The effect of carbon dioxide in oil recovery from calcite reservoirs. Part I.*

A. C. Alvarez [†], W. J. Lambert[‡], J. Bruining[§], D. Marchesin[¶]

December 14, 2016

^{*}This work was supported in part by: CNPq under Grants 402299/2012-4, 301564/2009-4, 470635/2012-6, FAPERJ under Grants E-26/111.416/2010, E-26/102.965/2011, E-26/110.658/2012, E-26/111.369/2012, E-26/110114.110/2013, ANP-731948/2010, PRH32-6000.0069459.11.4, CAPES Nuffic-024/2011, Technical University of Delft, Section Petroleum Engineering.

[†]Instituto Nacional de Matemática Pura e Aplicada, Estrada Dona Castorina 110, 22460-320 Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil. E-mail: meissa98@gmail.com

[‡]Universidade Federal Rural do Rio de Janeiro Rodovia BR 465 , Km 7 , Seropédica , RJ, Brazil 23851-970. E-mail: wanderson.lambert@gmail.com

[§]TU Delft, Civil Engineering and Geosciences, Stevinweg 1, 2628 CE Delft, The Netherlands. E-mail: J.Bruining@tudelft.nl

[¶]Instituto Nacional de Matemática Pura e Aplicada, Estrada Dona Castorina 110, 22460-320 Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil. E-mail: marchesi@impa.br

Contents

Introduction	4							
Model description2.1 Gibbs phase rule2.2 Equilibrium concentrations in the aqueous phase	8 . 8 . 9							
Partition of carbon dioxide into the aqueous and oleic phases	10							
3.1 Density of mixtures	. 12							
3.2 Water density \ldots	. 12							
3.3 Density of oleic phase	. 17							
Ionic Carbon Dioxide-Oil-Water (ICDOW) model	18							
4.1 Two-phase simple model equations	. 21							
4.2 Numerical calculation of terms	. 23							
4.3 Using equilibrium constants to express results in molalities	. 24							
4.4 Eliminating H_2O	. 27							
Riemann problem for ICDOW model	28							
5.1 Solving the Riemann-Goursat problem by MOC	. 29							
5.2 Characteristic analysis	. 29							
5.3 Rankine Hugoniot conditions	. 33							
5.4 Regression expressions	. 36							
5.5 Bifurcation curves	. 37							
5.5.1 Coincidence locus \ldots	. 37							
5.5.2 Inflection locus \ldots	. 38							
5.6 Numerical and Analytical solutions	. 39							
Conclusions	40							
A Activity coefficients								
3 Partition of carbon dioxide into the aqueous and oleic phases								
C Partial molar volume								
Sorption isotherms	48							
	Introduction Model description 2.1 Gibbs phase rule 2.2 Equilibrium concentrations in the aqueous phase Partition of carbon dioxide into the aqueous and oleic phases 3.1 Density of mixtures 3.2 Water density 3.3 Density of oleic phase 3.4 Density of oleic phase 3.5 Density of oleic phase 3.6 Density of oleic phase 3.7 Density of oleic phase 3.8 Density of oleic phase 3.9 Density of oleic phase 3.1 Two-phase simple model equations 4.1 Two-phase simple model equations 4.2 Numerical calculation of terms 4.3 Using equilibrium constants to express results in molalities 4.4 Eliminating H ₂ O 5.1 Solving the Riemann-Goursat problem by MOC 5.2 Characteristic analysis 5.3 Rankine Hugoniot conditions 5.4 Regression expressions 5.5 Bifurcation curves 5.5.1 Coincidence locus 5.5.2 Inflection locus 5.5.3 Conclusions Activity coefficients Partition of carbon dioxide into the aqueous and oleic phases Partial molar volume Sorption isotherms							

\mathbf{E}	Charge neutrality	50
	E.1 Mathematical derivation	. 50
\mathbf{F}	Basic programs for calculation of the density and dielectric propert	ies 52
	E 1 December for A shtained from Table in Devald Anchor and Delucing W	
	F.1 Program for A_V obtained from Table in Donald Archer and Pelming w	ang 52

0) -		
and Pelming Wang	 	 	 53

List of Figures

	-	
1	The Debye Huckel parameter $(-1.63521E - 15T^3 + 1.66821E - 12T^2 - 0.00000000587862T + 0.000000664581)P^3 + (9.26251E - 13T^3 - 9.12623E - 10T^2 + 0.00000341581T - 0.00004174)P^2 + (5.53046E - 11T^3 - 1.01197E - 7T^2 + 0.000023077T - 0.001447951)P + (-0.0000000716544T^3 + 0.000092935672 - 0.027716004T + 2.530009631). Comparison between observed and regres-$	⁻²
	sion values.	14
2	Branches of the Hugoniot locus.	35
3	For the variable oil viscosity case. Dashed lines represents the inflection locus for the saturation wave, while the bold line represents the inflection locus for the case of composition waves. Here the coincidence curves are	
	denoted by A , which are also inflection loci.	38
4	a)- $left$. The saturation profile from the COMSOL simulation (solid curve) a function of time scaled position compared with the analytical solution (dashed curve). b)- $right$. The pH profile from the COMSOL simulation (solid curve) compared with the analytical solution (dashed	
	curve)	39
5	The saturation, inert tracer (chloride) and the hydrogen ion concentration	
	in the ICDOW model	40
6	Oil concentration and hydrogen equation in the ICDOW model	41

1 Introduction

A large portion of the world's hydrocarbon reserves is in carbonate reservoirs. Such reservoirs may be fractured and the wetting properties are often oil-to-mixed wet. These two characteristics usually result in low hydrocarbon recovery rates. Indeed, the current production of oil occurs under increasingly difficult conditions; for example, oil recovered from deep deposits with high pressure and temperature conditions. Recovery methods for fractured reservoirs comprise [63] [64] supercritical gas injection, thermal methods [93] [106] [35] [104] and polymer [97] water injection. Our interest is in the injection of water with dissolved minerals into calcite reservoir. The application that we have in mind is in recovery from the presal formation [30], (Campos, Baumgartner et al. 2010), the deep "pre-salt discovery, which extends over 800 km off the Brazilian coast, from the state of Espírito Santo to Santa Catarina, below a thick salt layer that covers the sedimentary basins. The deposits consist of an aggregation of oil reservoirs that each contain of the order of ten billion barrels of oil in place. The reservoirs lie below a water depth of more than 2,000 m, a layer of sand sediment of 1,000 m and a layer of salt of 2,000 m. For example the oil in the Tupi basin has to be extracted from a depth of 5,000 to 7,000 m below sea surface. The high pressures (\sim 700 bars) make these reservoirs excellent candidates for high pressure miscible gas injection, e.g., CO_2 injection or carbonated water injection.

Recently much research has been done on low salinity water injection [6] [9] [54] [59] [89] [90] [98] [114] [113] [115] [110] and there is an increased interest in the effect of dissolved minerals on oil recovery. For example, the presence of sulfate ions, which are naturally present in sea water can improve the oil recovery by 5-18% [36], but the effect of sulfate [100] depends on the chalk type and on the wettability of the rock [38]. There is a vast literature on low salinity injection in oil reservoirs and we refer the interested reader to the overview paper by Morrow and Buckley [69] [70] as a starting point.

There is also an increasing interest in the effect of injection of water minerals on the recovery efficiency [98]. Mixed-wet or weakly water-wet are often considered as optimum wetting conditions for oil recovery [50] [70]. The theory of wetting behavior is clearly explained in [48]. Contrary to sandstones, the majority of carbonate petroleum reservoirs are oil-wet [119]. The presence of asphaltenes [16] [17] [18] and their adsorption on kaolinite can render even a sandstone reservoir oil-wet [24]. The presence of a water film on the mineral surface may reduce the asphaltene adsorption [27], and induce more water-wet behavior. The presence of carboxylic acids [40] [41] [81] and amines in the oil determines the acid and base number [26]. Carboxylic acids and amines bind with other ions in the solution to form charged surface complexes, which determine the average charge on the oil. Brady and Krumhansl [13], [12]. point out that reservoirs with a stable water film between the calcite and the oil are likely to have a favorable recovery.

In this paper our interest is in the effect of minerals on the carbon dioxide concentration. We leave the effect of surface complexes and relative permeability change for future work. The dissolution of carbon dioxide in the oleic phase depends on the mineral content and can in itself reduce the amount of oil left behind and thus increase the recovery of oil.

The calculation of the concentration of carbon dioxide requires the determination of the activity coefficients of all chemical species in the aqueous phase, which thus determine the ratio of carbon dioxide dissolved in the aqueous phase and the carbon dioxide in the oleic phase. To simplify the calculations we assume that no oil (decane) dissolves in the aqueous phase and vice versa. For the equilibrium calaculations we use as an intermediate step that we consider the equilibrium between the liquid (aqueous or oleic phase) and the gas phase. We ignore the presence of decane and water in the gaseous phase. Carbon dioxide concentrations in the oleic phase and aqueous phase for the same pressure are also in equilbrium with each other. For the equilibrium in the aqueous phase with gaseouss phase we can use a modified Henry's law, i.e., with corrections for nonideal behavior. For the carbon dioxide equilibrium in the oleic phase and gaseous phase we need more sophisticated models as the carbon dioxide concentration can increase to 100%. We compute the decane -carbon dioxide equilibrium, using Racketts model for density calculations, Redlich Kwong EOS, the two suffix Margules rules [82] model for activity coefficients. Some experimental methods are described in [53]). The theory behind the calculations performed in ASPEN are summarized in chapter 8 of [82]. These experimental data can be used in ASPEN plus to obtain an optimal description of the phase behavior [117].

Part of the parameters that determine the activity coefficients for the aqueous solutions (i.e., relations between activities and concentrations) and the concentrationdependent partial molar volumes can be found in [23] [65] [79] [80] [95] [105]. An excellent data-base can be found in [37] and references cited therein (see also. Ananthaswamy and Atkinson [1]. Correct values are required if one extends geochemical behavior to other pressure and temperature regimes [10] [11]. An excellent overview of geochemistry can be found in [2] [56] and [103]. The general geochemical background is well explained in [4] [3] in combination with the accompanying software (PHREEQC) [76] [75] [92]. An overview of existing software for saturated and unsaturated transport problems in groundwater flow can be found in [108]. The solubility of carbon dioxide in electrolyte solutions can be found in [21] [87] [86] [85]. Extending Henry's law [91] requires the pressures to be replaced by fugacities [77] and the mole fractions to corrected for the activity coefficient [22] [109]. Non-electrolyte solutions depend on the ionic strength as to their solubility [62]. The same coefficients can be used to determine the ionic strength dependence of the partial molar volume [46] [47] [68] [78]. Relevant coefficients can also be found in [75] [76]. Both Helgeson and Parkhurst also give the partial molar volume at infinite dilution; the found parameter values are often more or less equal but there can be a large discrepancy between parameters values found in the literature. Comparison of the parameter values allows the usage of specific data bases [43] [52].

Various aspects that are relevant to oil recovery must be studied with comprehensive modeling, i.e., with a model that describes two-phase flow and dissolution in phases combined with the geochemistry [34]. Noh et al. [73], use fractional flow theory in order to give a mathematical formalism of combined geochemical and multiphase flow. Holstadt [49] gives a general framework for multi-species, multiphase and non-isothermal flow, focusing on chemical reactions and transport. Evje et al. [32] propose a mathematical model for the weakening of chalk reservoirs due to chemical reactions. It consists of convection-diffusion transport coupled to dissolution/precipation processes. Evje and Hiorth [31], include in their model the rock chemistry and its effect on the wetting state. More precisely they include the fact that the rock surface becomes more water-wet where dissolution of calcite takes place and incorporate it in the relative permeability and capillary pressure behavior. Relative permeabilities depend on the pore size distribution [20]. In another paper [33], Evje and Hiorth use an extended version of the Buckley-Leverett model that is coupled to a system of reaction-diffusion equations.

Mathematical aspects of the model equations in terms of precipitation and dissolution waves provide important insights as to the effect of ions on the recovery of oil [14] [15] [45].

It is the purpose of the paper to provide the complete geochemical background for the modeling of carbonated water and carbon dioxide injection in a calcite reservoir. Section 2 describes a typical model for carbonated low salinity water injection in a calcite reservoir. It includes all equilibrium reactions and constants in the bulk, the formation of surface complexes and cation exchange modeling. Appendix A gives the definitions of activities and the equations for the activity coefficients. It also describes how to convert activities to molalities. Appendix 3 describes the partition of carbon dioxide between the oleic and aqueous phase, using Henry's law. Appendix C gives the data base and procedure to calculate partial molar volumes of the dissolved components in water. The expressions can be used to calculate the density of the solutions. Appendix D gives the Langmuir adsorption isotherms of the surface complexes. Appendix F gives a few basic programs to obtain the limiting expressions for the Debye-Hückel theory as a function of pressure to 1000 bars and temperatures to 200° C. Appendix E derives the charge balance from mass balance considerations. It contains both an engineering example of this derivation and a general mathematical derivation.

2 Model description

We consider a calcite rock filled with an oleic phase that contains both oil and dissolved carbon dioxide as well as an aqueous phase with dissolved solutes like ions, minerals and carbon dioxide. The oil consists of an alkane (e.g., decane). We assume that all species are in chemical equilibrium in both phases. Carbon dioxide can be present both in the oleic phase and the aqueous phase. Calcium carbonate can occur both in the aqueous phase and in the solid phase. All other minerals and ionic species only occur in the aqueous phase. Dissolution of decane in the aqueous phase is disregarded. Initially, the pores of the rock are filled with the oleic phase and an aqueous phase with a range of pH values, sodium chloride concentrations and other minerals. The injected fluid has also a high carbon dioxide content, which is determined by the pH values and sodium chloride concentration. Our main interest is the oil recovery ensuing form these injection conditions. The flow is governed by Darcy's law and conservation laws for chemical species. For simplicity we consider one dimensional incompressible flow.

2.1 Gibbs phase rule

Before stating the governing equations, we apply Gibbs rule to determine the number of chemical degrees of freedom. Gibbs phase rule states (see, e.g., [66]) that the number of degrees of freedom is given by

$$N_f = N_s - N_r - N_c + 2 - p, (1)$$

where N_s is the number of different chemical species, N_r is the number of possible equilibrium reactions (in the aqueous phase), N_c is the number of constraints, e.g., the charge balance. We call the charge balance a constraint as opposed to a mass balance equation, which involves accumulation, convection and diffusion terms; it can be stated as an algebraic equation satisfied everywhere. The number 2 represents the temperature and pressure and p the number of phases. Hence there are p equations of state (EOS).

As there is some judgment in enumerating the relevant aqueous species; we follow Appelo and Parkhurst [75] and [3] and use the geochemistry program PHREEQC to analyze phenomena in the aqueous phase. PHREEQC makes a choice to disregard certain components, of which the concentration is negligible when we add water, $CaCO_3$ (solid) and NaCl. The programme tells us that there are fifteen different relevant chemical species, ($N_s = 15$), twelve that occur only in the aqueous phase, one, i.e. carbon dioxide, that occurs both in the aqueous phase and one, alkane, that occurs only in the oleic phase. Calcium carbonate occurs both in the solid phase and in the aqueous phase. The species that occur in the aqueous phase have fourteen concentrations denoted by $c_{a,i}$ where $i = CO_2$, CO_3^{2-} , HCO_3^- , $CaHCO_3^+$, $CaCO_3$, $NaCO_3^-$, $NaHCO_3$, H_2O , H^+ , OH^- , $CaOH^+$, Ca^{2+} , Cl^- , Na^+ . The concentration of carbon dioxide in the oleic phase is denoted by c_{o,CO_2} . The concentration of alkane (A) in the oleic phase is denoted by $c_{o,A}$ in the oleic phase. The concentration of $CaCO_3$ in the solid phase is denoted by $c_{r,CaCO_3}$, which is constant.

2.2 Equilibrium concentrations in the aqueous phase

We consider the following eight $(N_r = 8)$ equilibrium reactions in the aqueous phase [55], [75].

$$(CO_{2})_{aq} + H_{2}O \rightleftharpoons HCO_{3}^{-} + H^{+}$$

$$HCO_{3}^{-} \rightleftharpoons CO_{3}^{2-} + H^{+}$$

$$H_{2}O \rightleftharpoons OH^{-} + H^{+}$$

$$(CaCO_{3})_{aq} \rightleftharpoons Ca^{2+} + CO_{3}^{2-}$$

$$Ca^{2+} + H_{2}O \rightleftharpoons CaOH^{+} + H^{+}$$

$$CO_{3}^{2-} + Ca^{2+} + H^{+} \rightleftharpoons CaHCO_{3}^{+}$$

$$Na^{+} + CO_{3}^{2-} \rightleftharpoons NaCO_{3}^{-}$$

$$Na^{+} + HCO_{3}^{-} = NaHCO_{3}$$
(2)

We dropped the subscript (aq) on all compounds except for $CaCO_3$ and CO_2 as we assume that all other compounds only occur in the aqueous phase. All possible equilibrium reactions can be found by linear combinations of these eight equilibrium equations. The equilibrium constants are expressed in activities for which the reference state is an ideal solution with concentration of one molal. So the molal concentration is given by the activities divided by the activity coefficients (see Appendix A).

Thermodynamic equilibrium between phases requires that the chemical potential of $(CaCO_3)_r$ in the solid phase is equal to the chemical potential of $(CaCO_3)_{aq}$ in the aqueous phase. This can be represented as

$$(CaCO_3)_r \rightleftharpoons (CaCO_3)_{aq}. \tag{3}$$

In the same way the chemical potential of carbon dioxide in the aqueous phase is equal to the chemical potential in the oleic phase. This can be represented as

$$(CO_2)_o \rightleftharpoons (CO_2)_{aq} \,. \tag{4}$$

As we consider a solid, an aqueous and an oleic phase, the number of phases is p = 3.

There is one $(N_c = 1)$ constraint, viz., the charge balance equation, which can be written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2m_{a,CO_3^{2^-}} + m_{a,HCO_3^-} + m_{a,OH^-} + m_{a,NaCO3^-} + m_{a,Cl^-} \\ = 2m_{a,Ca^{2+}} + m_{a,H^+} + m_{a,Ca(HCO_3)^+} + m_{a,Na^+} + m_{a,CaOH^+} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5)

The molal concentrations can be converted to molar concentrations as explained in Eq. (91) in Appendix A. Such conversions couple each concentration to all others.

The charge balance equation can be derived from the mass balance equations (see Appendix E). We are therefore allowed to replace one balance equation by the charge balance equation. Note that the charge balance equation is an algebraic equation. Alternatively, we can combine the hydrogen and oxygen balance equations into a single equation, in such a way that the water concentration is eliminated, and use the charge balance equation to complete the system of equations. This replacement is considered to be helpful to enhance stability as the water concentration (\sim 55.5 mole/liter) is much higher than the other concentrations, causing numerical problems in simulations.

3 Partition of carbon dioxide into the aqueous and oleic phases

By comparing the Henry coefficient of carbon dioxide between the oleic phase and the gas phase to the Henry coefficient between the aqueous and the gas phase it is possible to derive the equilibrium of carbon dioxide between an oleic phase and the aqueous phase.

Extended Henry's law, where the pressure is replaced by the fugacity and the concentration by the activity, describes the ratio between the activity of carbon dioxide in the gas phase and the activity in the liquid (o/w) phase. We obtain for the aqueous phase

$$H_{w-q}^{H} = a_{g,CO_2} / a_{w,CO_2} = f_{g,CO_2} / \left(x_{a,CO_2} \gamma_{a,CO_2} \right), \tag{6}$$

where x_{a,CO_2} is the mole fraction of carbon dioxide in the water phase, $\gamma_{a,CO_2(aq)}$ the activity coefficient, and $f_{CO_2(g)}$ is the fugacity of carbon dioxide in the gas phase. Henry coefficients as a function of temperature are tabulated in [91], [118]. The Henry's law reads P = kx, with P the pressure and x the mole fraction. They give for the inverse

Henry constant $k_H \ [mole/atm]$, where $k_H = c_a/P$,

$$\ln k_H / k_H^0 = -\frac{\Delta H_w}{R} \left(\frac{1}{T} - \frac{1}{T_0} \right),$$

where for carbon dioxide dissolution in water we have $k_H^0 = 34 [mole/m^3/atm]$ at temperature $T_0 = 298.15 [K]$ and $\Delta H_w/R = 2400 [K]$ with R denoting the gas constant. The positive value arises as the inverse Henry theory gives the conversion of the dissolved phase to the gas phase and this reaction is endothermic. Conversion of k_H to H_{w-g}^H uses the equation $H_{w-g}^H = (\rho_w/M_w)/k_H$ and

$$\ln H_{w-g}^{H}/H_{w-g}^{H,0} = \frac{\Delta H_w}{R} \left(\frac{1}{T} - \frac{1}{T_0}\right),\tag{7}$$

and $H_{w-g}^{H,0} = (\rho_w/M_w) \left[mole/m^3 \right] / 34 \left[atm/ \left(mole/m^3 \right) = atm \right]$. Indeed, the density of

water ρ_w is expressed in $[kg/m^3]$ and M_w is the molar weight expressed in [kg/mole]. At low pressures th fugacity is equal to the pressure and this allows us to determine H^H_{w-g} at low pressures. However, at high pressure we use the same value of the Henry coefficient, but it is now given by Eq. (6). The calculation of activity coefficients of neutral molecules (CO₂ (aq), SiO₂ (aq), H₂S(aq)) is usually much simpler than the calculation of activity coefficients of ions [2], [87]. To obtain an approximate value of the activity coefficient γ_{a,CO_2} in electrolyte solutions we use the Setchénow coefficient

$$k_S > 0$$
 [88] [87] [86] [85], with $\gamma_{a,CO_2} = \exp(k_S\mu)$, where $\mu = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} c_j Z_j^2$ is the ionic

strength, with the consequence that the mole fraction of carbon dioxide decreases for increasing salt concentration (salting out effect). Here c_j denotes the molar concentration of component *i*. For single salt solutions, values can be found in [102]. Byrne et al. [21] use a more general equation, which takes into account the ionic species dependence

$$\log \gamma_{a,CO_2} = \sum_i k_{Si} \mu_i := \mu k_S,\tag{8}$$

where k_{Si} are the Setchénow coefficients contribution of a certain neutral species S due to ionic component i and μ_i is the contribution of ions i to the ionic strength. This procedure is implemented in PHREEQC [75]. However, to add the individual values is cumbersome and we can approximate the values using that $k_S = 0.1$ ([62]) ([101]), even if these values can vary, admitting that it is an approximation. In the same way we can also relate the equilibrium of carbon dioxide in the gas phase [116] [71] and oleic phase by (see chapter 8 of [82])

$$H_{o-g}^{H} = a_{g,CO_2} / a_{o,CO_2} = f_{g,CO_2} / \left(x_{o,CO_2} \gamma_{o,CO_2} \right).$$
(9)

We ignore the pressure dependence in the liquid phase of the Henry coefficient, i.e., and in this case the Krichevsky-Ilinskaya equation [82] becomes equivalent to Eq. (9). Indeed, we verified that the pressure correction can be disregarded. Using literature data of the carbon dioxide-decane equilibrium [72] For the activity coefficient we use the one parameter (A) twosuffix Margules equation [82]

$$\ln \gamma_{o,CO_2} = \frac{A}{RT} \left(1 - x_{o,CO_2} \right)^2.$$
 (10)

The word two-suffix indicates that the excess free energy is quadratic. The value of A and the Henry coefficient are obtained by substituting experimental data into Eq. (9) and Eq. (10) and we obtain

$$\ln H_{o-g}^{H}/H_{o-g}^{H,0} = \frac{\Delta H_o}{R} \left(\frac{1}{T} - \frac{1}{T_0}\right),\tag{11}$$

We obtain that $H_{o-g}^{H,0} = \exp(16.31)$ [Pa]=119.54[atm] at temperature $T_0 = 344.3$ [K] and $\Delta H_0/RT = 770.2$. The coefficient A = 1870 [J/mol] at 344.3 [K]. This can be compared with the value109.38 [atm] found in [112].

Therefore the ratio of the Henry coefficients give the ratio of the molalities

$$\frac{H_{w-g}^{H}}{H_{o-g}^{H}} = \frac{f_{g,CO_2} / (x_{a,CO_2} \gamma_{a,CO_2})}{f_{g,CO_2} / (x_{o,CO_2} \gamma_{o,CO_2})} = \frac{x_{o,CO_2} \gamma_{o,CO_2}}{x_{a,CO_2} \gamma_{a,CO_2}}$$
(12)

No salt dissolves in the oleic phase.

3.1 Density of mixtures

3.2 Water density

The volume of a solution is given in terms of the molar composition n_i by

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \overline{V}_i n_i, \tag{13}$$

where the partial molar volumes are defined by

$$\overline{V}_i = \left(\frac{\partial V}{\partial n_i}\right)_{n_{j\neq i},T,P}.$$
(14)

This leads to the equation of state

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \overline{V}_i c_i = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \overline{V}_i \overline{\rho}_w x_i = 1,$$
(15)

where c_i is the concentration and $\overline{\rho}_w$ is the molar density of water. It follows that the molar density of water is given by

$$\overline{\rho}_w = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^N \overline{V}_i x_i} \tag{16}$$

PHREEQC gives the partial molar volumes at infinite dilution by

$$\overline{V}_{i,\text{inf}} = 41.84 \left(a_1/10 + \frac{100a_2}{2600 + P_b} + \frac{a_3}{T_K - 228} + \frac{10000a_4}{(2600 + P_b) \left(T_K - 228\right)} - WQ_{Born} \right),\tag{17}$$

where $Q_{Born} = -\partial_P (1/\varepsilon_r) = 0.615\text{e}-06(/\text{bar})$. The coefficient ε_r refers to the dielectric coefficient of the pure water phase. The reason to cast this equation in this form is that the coefficients a_1 , a_2 , a_3 , a_4 , W depend on the component i can be found in the literature. The constants are such that the term in brackets is in cal/mol/bar, with pressures P_b in bar and temperature T_K in Kelvin. The values of the constants a_1 , a_2 , a_3 , a_4 , W, a_1 , $a_2 = 0$, $a_3 = -12.21$, $a_4 = 0$, W = 0, $a_6 = 1.667$, $i_1 = 0$. $i_2 = 264$, $i_3 = 0$ and $i_4 = 1$ for the reaction $CO_3^{2-} + H^+ \to HCO_3^-$. Using the factor 41.84, leads to a volume $\overline{V}_{i,\text{inf}}$ of cm^3/mol ., where we recall that the factor 4.184 converts calorie to Joule.

The volume in a salt mixture with ionic strength μ is given by [10] [47] [52] [105] [92] [80] [79] [67] [68] is split in a ionic species dependent term $\overline{V}_{i,\text{inf}}$ and a correction due to its presence in a solution of ionic strength μ

$$\bar{V}_i - \bar{V}_{i,\text{inf}} = \frac{\psi_i A_V \sqrt{\mu}}{\Lambda} + \frac{\psi_i A_\gamma \mathring{a} B_V \mu}{\Lambda^2} + \frac{\nu_i b_{V,i} \mu}{2}, \qquad (18)$$

where alternatively to Eq. (18) we can also write

$$\overline{V}_i = \overline{V}_{i,\text{inf}} + \frac{1}{2} z_i^2 A_V \frac{\sqrt{\mu}}{1 + \mathring{a} B_\gamma \sqrt{\mu}} + \beta_i \mu^{i_4}, \qquad (19)$$



Figure 1: The Debye Huckel parameter $(-1.63521E - 15T^3 + 1.66821E - 12T^2 - 0.00000000587862T + 0.000000664581)P^3 + (9.26251E - 13T^3 - 9.12623E - 10T^2 + 0.00000341581T - 0.00004174)P^2 + (5.53046E - 11T^3 - 1.01197E - 7T^2 + 0.000023077T - 0.001447951)P + (-0.000000716544T^3 + 0.0000929356T^2 - 0.027716004T + 2.530009631).$ Comparison between observed and regression values.

where $\beta_i = i_1 + i_2/(T_K - 228) + i_3(T_K - 228)$. The various alternatives for i_1, i_2 and i_3 are useful because literature data are presented in various forms. The value å is set to zero for anions in some data sets. Note that some books use $1/4z_i^2 A_V$, but we stick to this formulation.

Alternatively Helgeson and Kirkham [46] write

$$\overline{V}_{i} = \overline{V}_{i,\text{inf}} + \frac{1}{2}\nu z_{i}^{2}A_{V}\frac{\sqrt{\mu}}{1+\mathring{a}B_{\gamma}\sqrt{\mu}} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\nu z_{i}^{2}A_{\gamma}\mathring{a}B_{V}\mu}{\left(1+\mathring{a}B_{\gamma}\sqrt{\mu}\right)^{2}} + \frac{\nu b_{V}\mu}{2},$$
(20)

but it becomes nowhere clear what b_V is. Fortunately in another paper Helgeson and Kirkham write

$$\Lambda = 1 + \mathring{a}B_{\gamma}\sqrt{\mu} \tag{21}$$

$$\overline{V}_{i} = \overline{V}_{i,\inf} + \frac{1}{2} z_{i}^{2} A_{V} \frac{\sqrt{\mu}}{1 + \mathring{a} B_{\gamma} \sqrt{\mu}} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{z_{i}^{2} A_{V} \sqrt{\mu}}{\left(\mathring{a} B_{\gamma} \sqrt{\mu}\right)^{3}} \left(\Lambda - \frac{1}{\Lambda} - 2 \ln \Lambda\right) + \frac{z_{i}^{2} A_{\gamma} B_{V}}{\mathring{a}^{3} B_{\gamma}^{4} \mu} \left(\frac{\Lambda^{2}}{2} - 3\Lambda + \frac{1}{\Lambda} + 3 \ln \Lambda + \frac{3}{2}\right) + \frac{\nu B_{V} \mu}{4}$$
(22)

where ν is the number of moles of ions,

$$B_V = \ln(100)RT\partial_P B_\gamma$$
 and $b_V = \ln(100)RT\partial_P b_\gamma$ (23)

The constant A_V , the Debye limiting slope, can be expressed as

$$A_V = -\ln(100)RT\partial_P A_\gamma = \ln(10)RTA_\gamma \left(3\partial_P \log\varepsilon - \kappa_0\right) \quad \left[(cm^3/mol)(mol/kg)^{0.5}\right],$$
(24)

where

$$B_{\gamma} = \left(\frac{8\pi N_A q_e^2 \rho_o}{1000\varepsilon_r k_B T}\right)^{1/2} = \frac{50.29158649 \rho_0^{1/2}}{(\varepsilon_r T)^{1/2}}$$
(25)

where N_A is the Avogadro number (6.225×10^{23}) molecules per mole, $q_e = 4.803 \times 10^{-10}$ esu (electrostatic unit of charge), ρ_0 is the density of pure water water in $[g/cm^3]$, ε_r is the relative dielectric coefficient, $k_B = 1.38054 \times 10^{-16}$ erg/K is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature in K, P is the pressure in atmosphere. and the compressibility $\kappa_0 = (atm^{-1})$. For the definition of B in Eq. (25) we need to express å in Ångstrom.

Moreover we can express the Debye-Hückel parameter for the activity coefficients as [95]

$$A_{\gamma} = \frac{(2\pi N_A)^{1/2} q_e^3 \sqrt{\rho^0}}{\sqrt{1000} (\varepsilon k_B T)^{3/2}} = \frac{1824829.238 \sqrt{\rho^0}}{(\varepsilon T)^{3/2}} \quad \left[(mol/kg)^{0.5} \right]$$
(26)

where ν_i is the stoichiometric number of moles of ions in one mole of the i^{th} thermodynamic component of an electrolyte solution. Here $\Lambda = 1 + a B_{\gamma} \sqrt{\mu}$. Furthermore $\psi_k = Z_k^2/2$ where Z_k is the charge on the k^{th} ion.

b_i	0.075	0.165	0.015		0	0									
å/Ångstrom	4.08(1.91)	5.0(2.87)	3.63	3.5	5.4	5.4	9	9	5.4	9.0					
M	-5.125E+5	$1.239\mathrm{E}{+}05$	1.75E + 05	1.72E + 05	$3.3914E \pm 05$	1.2733E + 05	$0.4496E \pm 05$	$0.308E{+}05$	3.11E+05	0					-0.3107E+5
a4(i4)	-2.726(0.725)	-2.479 (1.0)	-2.847(1)	-2.7821	-2.6143(1)	-2.8266	-2.7322	-2.831	-8.12(1)	0					7.4092
a3(i3)	4.419(-3.09e-3)	6.149 (-6.12e-3)	4.325(0)	1.8423	6.4142 (-0.026)	1.2346	6.1958	5.252	$15.3\ (0.026)$	0					-55.4493
a2(i2)	-2.285(47.67)	-7.252(-57.1)	4.801 (20.16)	7.38	-3.9844(167)	1.1505	-1.1303	1.267	0(0)	0					-10.0382
a1(i1)	1.403(0.162)	-0.3456(1.60)	4.465(-0.331)	0.126	(2.8524)(-0.115)	7.5621		3.706	$3.99\ (2.7)$	0	0.51	$18.07 \ ({ m cm}^3/{ m mol})$	$30.26 \ ({\rm cm}^3/{\rm mol})$	$-14.60 \ (\mathrm{cm}^3/\mathrm{mol})$	15.2964
<u>N</u>	Na (A)	Ca	Cl	HO	CO3	HCO3 $(S\&H)$	$CaOH^+$	$CaHCO_3^+$	$\rm NaCO_3^{-}$	H^+	NaHCO ₃	H2O	CO_2	$CaCO_3$	CO_2

The parameters to obtain the partial molar volume are obtained from the data base PHREEQC.DAT and Pitzer.DAT. For the reaction aA + bB = cC + dD, with $\Delta v = cV_m(C) + dV_m(D) - aV_m(A) - bV_m(B)$, where $V_m(Q)$ denotes the partial molar volume of pure Q in cm^3/mol . To account for the pressure dependence of the equilibrium constants we write $\log K = \log K_0 + \Delta V (P - 1) / (2.3RT)$, where P is the pressure in atmosphere, R is the gas constant in $[cm^3atm/mole/K]$, T is the temperature in K.

Unfortunately the data base of PHREEQC in their data base (e.g., phreeqc.dat) are incorrect as to the calculation of molar volumes. Using data from the papers in Helgeson [47] [46] [52] [95] [105] leads to results that agree within 10% with the calculations using PHREEQC. Hence we assume that we can use the results of PHREEQC to substitute in Eq. (44) to obtain the molar aqueous phase density as the main contribution is from water and the presence of the other ions constitute a correction on this.

3.3 Density of oleic phase

The density in the oleic phase is obtained from experimental data of carbon dioxide decane mixtures. We used the data set at 71,11 ^{o}C , because at that temperature many measurements were obtained and reported in the literature [72]. Near the critical point we used a critical pressure of 12800 [kPa] as opposed to the value 12740 [kPa] chosen by [72] and a value of the critical density ρ_c of 568 $[kg/m^3]$ instead of the value in of 590.5 $[kg/m^3]$ used in [72]. We note that the authors also modified their measured critical pressure P_c to 12740 [kPa], as their measured value 12760 [kPa] was considered not reliable. Using these values we obtain a smooth behavior near the critical point when we use

$$A = \frac{\rho - \rho_c}{(P_c - P)^{0.325}}$$

where A has a value 20.44 near the critical point. If we denote $\rho - \rho_c$ by y and $(P_c - P)^{0.325}$ by x and use polynomial regression we obtain

 $y = 6.8416 \times 10^{-5} x^{6} - 3.8214 \times 10^{-3} x^{5} + 0.082894 x^{4} - 0.85533 x^{3} + 3.1352 x^{2} + 17.120 x^{2} + 17.120$

We used the data set of [72], as it shows less scatter than other data sources and it reports both the compositions and the densities and moreover gives data for a relevant temperature value, i.e., $t=71.11^{\circ}C$. Unfortunately the dataset of [72] do not show any results for pressures below 63.85 bar. The data presented by other authors are not of sufficient quality. Instead we used the Krichevsky-Ilinskaya equation, which is also quoted in [82] and reads

$$\ln \frac{f}{x_2} = \ln H_{og}^H + \frac{A}{RT} x_1^2 + \frac{v_2^\infty}{RT} \left(P - P_1^s \right),$$

where P_1^s is the vapor pressure of decane, which is much less than the ambient pressures P and can thus be disregarded. Polling uses for the activity coefficient $\gamma_{o,CO_2} = A(x_2^2 - 1)/RT$. The index "2" indicates carbon dioxide and the index "1" indicates decane. The mole fractions are indicated by x_i . The pressure term is not included in Eq. (9) and is indeed small. The activity coefficient uses the two suffix (having quadratic terms) Margules equation $\gamma_{o,CO_2} = Ax_1^2/RT$, where A is a parameter. The fugacity is obtained from the equation

$$\Delta G = RT \ln \frac{f}{p_{ref}} = \int_{p_{ref}}^{P} V dp,$$

where it is easily verified that for an ideal gas (V = RT/P), the fugacity f is equal to the pressure P. Also at low pressures the fugacity is equal to the pressure; p_{ref} is a reference pressure for which this is satisfied. We obtain V = ZRT/P, where we obtain the compressibility factor Z(P,T) from the Span-Wagner equation of state [99] and use the integration routine "qtrap" in Numerical Recipes [84], which uses the extended trapezoidal rule. If the integration with twice the number of points gives a difference less than $\varepsilon = 0.00001$, the required accuracy is reached. We obtain H_{og}^H and A, by minimizing the variance of 18 data points between 63.8 and 117 bar. The standard deviation s = 0.026 being the square root of the variance is for the logarithm of the Henry coefficient (ln $H_{og}^H = 16.044$). Using this procedure we get a smooth transition between the measured high pressure data and the interpolated low pressure data.

4 Ionic Carbon Dioxide-Oil-Water (ICDOW) model

In this section we present a model that focuses on the effects of carbon dioxide without brine. We study the transport of chemical reactions that occur in this process. Also, knowing that the injection of water saturated with carbon dioxide at high pressure and medium temperature improves the efficiency of oil recovery, we will quantify these improvements. For simplicity we consider one dimensional incompressible flow that is governed by balance laws for chemical species and Darcy's law.

We consider the following three $(N_r = 3)$ equilibrium reactions in the aqueous phase.

$$(CO_2)_{aa} + H_2O \rightleftharpoons HCO_3^- + H^+ \tag{27}$$

$$HCO_3^- \rightleftharpoons CO_3^{2-} + H^+ \tag{28}$$

$$H_2 O \rightleftharpoons OH^- + H^+ \tag{29}$$

All possible equilibrium reactions can be found by linear combinations of these three equilibrium equations. The equilibrium constants are defined in Eqs. (?? - ??).

The relevant equilibrium constants are given by

$$K_a = \frac{a_{a,HCO3} \ a_{a,H}}{a_{a,CO_2} a_{a,H_2O}},$$

 $\log_{10}(K_a) = -356.309 - 0.06092T + 21834.37/T + 126.8339\log(T)/\log(10) - 1684915/T^2,$

$$K_b = \frac{a_{a,CO_3}a_{a,H}}{a_{a,HCO_3}},$$

 $\log_{10}(K_b) = -107.8871 - 0.03252849T + 5151.79/T + 38.92561\log(T)/\log(10) - 563713.9/T^2$

$$K_w = \frac{a_{a,OH}a_{a,H}}{a_{a,H_2O}},$$

$$\log_{10} (K_w) = 293.29227 + 0.1360833T - 10576.913/T - 123.73158 \frac{\log (T)}{\log(10)} - 6.996455 * 10^{-5} * (T^2).$$

The equilibrium constants are expressed in activities for which the reference state is an ideal solution with concentration of one molal. So the molal concentration is given by the activities divided by the activity coefficients (see Apppendix A).

There is one $(N_c = 1)$ constraint, viz., the charge balance equation, which can be written as

$$\left(2m_{a,CO_3^{2-}} + m_{a,HCO_3^{-}} + m_{a,OH^{-}} = m_{a,H^{+}}\right),\tag{30}$$

The molal concentrations can be converted to molar concentrations as explained in Eq. (91) in Appendix A. Such conversions couple each concentration to all others. The number of degrees of freedom (as we disregard surface complexes) is given by

$$N_f = N_s - N_r - N_c + (T, P) - p, (31)$$

There are now six species $(N_s = 6)$, viz. $CO_3^{2-}, CO_2, OH^-, H_2O, HCO_3^-, H^+$. There are three equilibrium reactions $(N_r = 3)$. There is one constraint, i.e., the charge balance (Eq (30)), i.e., $N_c = 1$. For a given temperature and pressure and considering one phase, i.e. p = 1, we have $N_f = 6 - 3 - 1 - 1 = 1$, thus one degree of freedom for which we

choose H^+ . To obtain the composition one first uses the equilibrium relations Eq. (27), Eq. (28), Eq. (29) and the charge balance equation Eq. (30). Another relationship to be used is the equation of state, which gives the density ρ_w of the solution as a function of the concentrations. The equation of state is derived using the partial molar volumes. The data base Appelo gives the partial molar volumes of many compounds, and if not the clains to use the method of Millero, which also requires input parameters. Unfortunately these parameters are not explicitly stated in his program.

There are three total balance equations, viz., the total carbon, the total hydrogen and the total oxygen balance. We are using the output by Appelo to obtain the concentrations of CO_2 , HCO_3^- , CO_3^{2-} , OH^- , H_2O as a function of the H^+ concentration, using regression on the output data of a compositional simulation. The simulations of the programme by Appelo and Parkhurst satisfy the charge balance. It can also be shown that the charge balance is a consequence of the mass balance equations, provided that initial and boundary conditions satisfy the charge balance. Therefore we only need two our of the three balance equations, which we take to be the total carbon and the (oxygen - 2 * hydrogen). The latter equation eliminates the water from the equation, which would otherwise be the dominating term.

The total moles [mol] of carbon per kilogram of water can be expressed in terms of molalities $m_{a,j}$ as follows

$$m_{a,C(4)}\left[\frac{mol}{kg \text{ water}}\right] = m_{a,CO_2} + m_{a,CO_3} + m_{a,HCO_3}.$$
(32)

In the same way the total moles of hydrogen is given by

$$m_{a,H(1)} = m_{a,HCO3} + m_{a,H} + m_{a,OH} + 2m_{a,H_2O}.$$
(33)

The total moles of oxygen is given by

$$m_{a,O(-2)} = 2m_{a,CO_2} + 3m_{a,CO_3} + 3m_{a,HCO_3} + m_{a,OH} + m_{a,H_2O}.$$
(34)

Taking the difference between Eq. (33) minus twice Eq. (34) leads to

$$m_{a,O-H} = m_{a,H} - 4m_{a,CO_2} - 6m_{a,CO_3} - 5m_{a,HCO_3} - m_{a,OH},$$
(35)

an equation from which the water has been eliminated using $m_{a,O-H} = m_{a,H(1)} - 2m_{a,O(-2)}$

The total molar concentration in the aqueous phase is given by

$$m_{a,tot} = m_{a,CO_2} + m_{a,CO_3} + m_{a,HCO_3} + m_{a,H} + m_{a,OH} + m_{a,H_2}$$
(36)

and we find the aqueous phase mole fractions x_i as

$$x_{a,C(4)} = \frac{m_{a,C(4)}}{m_{a,tot}}$$

$$x_{a,C_{a,H(1)}} = \frac{m_{a,H(1)}}{m_{a,tot}}$$

$$x_{a,O(-2)} = \frac{m_{a,O(-2)}}{m_{a,tot}}$$

$$x_{a,O-H} = \frac{m_{a,O-H}}{m_{a,tot}}$$
(37)

The total molar concentration in the oleic phase is given by

$$\rho_{o,tot} = \rho_{o,CO_2} + \rho_{o,C_{10}H_{22}},\tag{38}$$

The mole fraction of CO_2 and decane $(C_{10}H_{22})$ is given by

$$x_{o,CO_2} = \frac{\rho_{o,CO_2}}{\rho_{o,tot}}$$

$$x_{o,C_{10}H_{22}} = \frac{\rho_{o,C_{10}H_{22}}}{\rho_{o,tot}}$$
(39)

All of them will be functions only of x_{a,H^+} .

4.1 Two-phase simple model equations

When we describe the equations in two phase, we include the saturation and add an equation that describes in addition one component oil flow. Moreover we denote the product of the molar density ρ_w and the mole fractions $x_{a,i}$ by $\rho_{a,i}$ and obtain the product of the oil molar density ρ_o and the mole fractions $x_{o,i}$ by $\rho_{o,i}$. Note that $\rho_{a,i}$ and $\rho_{o,i}$ are only dependent of the single degree of freedom of choice, for instance the H^+ .

For the total carbon we have

$$\partial_t \left(\varphi S_w \rho_{a,C(4)}\right) + \partial_t \left(\varphi S_o \rho_{o,CO_2}\right) + \partial_x \left(u f_w \rho_{a,C(4)}\right) + \partial_x \left(u f_o \rho_{o,CO_2}\right) = \\\partial_x \varphi D_w S_w \partial_x \rho_{a,C(4).} + \partial_x \varphi D_w S_o \partial_x \rho_{o,CO_2.} + \partial_x D_c \rho_{a,C(4).} \partial_x S_w + \partial_x D_c \rho_{o,CO_2.} \partial_x S_o$$
(40)

For the total hydrogen we have

$$\partial_t \left(\varphi S_w \rho_{a,H(1)} \right) + \partial_x \left(u f_w \rho_{a,H(1)} \right) = \partial_x \varphi D_w S_w \partial_x \rho_{a,H(1)} + \partial_x D_c \rho_{a,H(1)} \partial_x S_w \tag{41}$$

For the total oxygen we have

$$\partial_t \left(\varphi S_w \rho_{a,O(2)}\right) + 2\partial_t \left(\varphi S_o \rho_{o,CO_2}\right) + \partial_x \left(u f_w \rho_{a,O(2)}\right) + \partial_x \left(u f_o \rho_{o,CO_2}\right) = \\ \partial_x \varphi D_w S_w \partial_x \rho_{a,O(2).} + \partial_x D_c \rho_{a,O(2).} \partial_x S_w + 2\partial_x \varphi D_o S_o \partial_x \rho_{a,O(2).} + 2\partial_x D_c \rho_{o,O(2).} \partial_x S_o \quad (42)$$

For the total organic carbon we have

$$\partial_t \left(\varphi S_o \rho_{o,C(-4)} \right) + \partial_x \left(u f_o \rho_{o,C(-4)} \right) = \partial_x \varphi D_o S_o \partial_x \rho_{o,C(-4)} + \partial_x D_c \rho_{o,C(-4)} \partial_x S_o \tag{43}$$

Here $\rho_{w,j}$ and $\rho_{o,j}$ are the mole fractions times the molar density ρ_w in the water and ρ_o oleic phase respectively. The molar density of water is given by

$$\rho_w = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{6} x_i \overline{V}_i},\tag{44}$$

where x_i is the mole fraction in the solution of component *i*, and \overline{V}_i is the molar volume of component *i*.

$$\overline{V}_{i,\text{inf}} = 41.84 \left(a_1/10 + \frac{100a_2}{2600 + P_b} + \frac{a_3}{T_K - 228} + \frac{10000a_4}{(2600 + P_b) \left(T_K - 228\right)} - WQ_{Born} \right),\tag{45}$$

where $Q_{Born} = -\partial_P (1/\varepsilon_r) = 0.615\text{e}-06(/\text{bar})$. The constants are such that the term in brackets is in *cal/mol/bar*, with pressures P_b in bar and temperature T_K in Kelvin. Using the factor 41.84, leads to a volume $\overline{V}_{i,\text{inf}}$ of cm^3/mol , where we recall that the factor 4.184 converts calorie to Joule. The molar density of the aqueouus phase is obtained from symbolic regression (EUREQA)

$$\rho_w = 7.80736561756858 \times 10^{-6} \exp(\sinh(10.0623537260726 + x)) - 29426.3880030756 - 29481.5059857005 \tanh(1.25155492484017 + x),$$

$$\rho_w = 7.25664915670081 \times 10^{-7} \exp(\sinh(10.2710874945997 + x)) - 353329.945742431 - 4.50333572865423 \times 10^{-5}x - 353385.063109827 \tanh(x),$$

where $x = \ln(H^+)$. For the molar density of the oleic phase we obtain

$$\rho_o = 5.08860409653381 + 0.0012873299795674x + 43541853141.7085 / (1 + \exp(-3.20371179817114x)),$$

where again $x = \ln(H^+)$

The regression expression of the molar concentration of decane is

$$\rho_{o,C(-4)} = \rho_o x_{C(-4)} = 2.52613380627472 \operatorname{erf} c(951.675792766272 + 132.737013788747x) \operatorname{erf} c(10076103.4203491 \exp(2.5883061564501x + 1073.23321331289 (2.5883061564501)^x)),$$

The parameters to obtain the partial molar volume are displayed in the data base PHREEQC.DAT and Pitzer.DAT. For the reaction aA + bB = cC + dD, with $\Delta v = cV_m(C) + dV_m(D) - aV_m(A) - bV_m(B)$, where $V_m(Q)$ denotes the partial molar volume of pure Q in cm^3/mol . To account for the pressure dependence of the equilibrium constants we write $\log k = \log k_0 + \Delta V (P-1) / (2.3RT)$, where P is the pressure in atmosphere, R is the gas constant in $[cm^3atm/mole/K]$, T is the temperature in K.

$$\overline{V}_i = \overline{V}_{i,\text{inf}} + \frac{1}{2} z_i^2 A_V \frac{\sqrt{\mu}}{1 + \mathring{a} B_\gamma \sqrt{\mu}} + \beta_i \mu^{i_4}, \qquad (46)$$

where $A_V = 1.927$, $aB_{\gamma} = 0.3281$ and $\beta_i = i_1 + i_2/(T_K - 228) + i_3(T_K - 228)$. The value a is set to zero for anions in some data sets. Note that some books use $1/4z_i^2A_V$, but we stick to this formulation. Note that the additional contribution of the ionic strength for neutral molecules in this model $\overline{V}_i - \overline{V}_{i,inf}$ is zero.

Unfortunately the data base of PHREEQC in their data base (e.g., phreeqc.dat) are incorrect as to the calculation of molar volumes. Using data from the papers in Helgeson leads to results that agree within 10% with the calculations using PHREEQC. Hence we assume that we can use the results of PHREEQC to substitute in Eq. (44) to obtain the molar aqueous phase density as the main contribution is from water and the presence of the other ions constitute a correction on this.

4.2 Numerical calculation of terms

The activity coefficients can be given by the Davies equation, which does not depend on any other properties of the ion than its charge

$$\ln \gamma_j(\mu) = -\frac{A_\gamma |z_j|^2 \sqrt{\mu}}{1 + B_\gamma \sqrt{\mu}} + 0.3\mu,$$
(47)

where at ambient temperatures $A_{\gamma} = 1.1708$ and $B_{\gamma} = 0.3281$. The derivative towards the ionic strength is given by

$$\partial_{\mu} \ln \gamma_j \left(\mu\right) = \frac{-A_{\gamma} |z_j|^2}{2\sqrt{\mu} (1 + B_{\gamma} \sqrt{\mu})^2} + 0.3$$
(48)

The ionic strength $2\mu \approx \sum_{i} m_{i} z_{i}^{2} = \sum_{i} a_{i} / \gamma_{i} z_{i}^{2}$ and reads

$$2\mu = (4.0 * a_{CO_3}/\gamma_2(\mu) + a_{HCO_3}(a_H, a_{CO_3}, T_{zero})/\gamma_1(\mu) + a_{OH}(a_H, T_{zero})/\gamma_1(\mu) + a_{H}/\gamma_1(\mu)), \quad (49)$$

where a_i is the activity of component *i* and γ_i is the activity coefficient and $c_i = a_i/\gamma_i$ is the concentration.

Note that the concentrations c are related to the molalities m by $c = \rho_w m$, where ρ_w is the density of water. However this water density is always close to one. In high concentration salt solutions this no longer valid. The charge balance equation reads

charge =
$$-2a_{CO_3}/\gamma_2(\mu) - a_{HCO_3}(a_H, a_{CO_3}, T_{zero})/\gamma_1(\mu) - a_{OH}(a_H, T_{zero})/\gamma_1(\mu) + a_H/\gamma_1(\mu)) = 0.$$
 (50)

We can, without approximations and using Eqs. (49) and (50), even get the exact expression

$$\mu \gamma_1(\mu) = \frac{3}{2} a_H - \frac{1}{2} \left(a_{OH} + a_{HCO3} \right)$$

We can use the charge balance equation to get an explicit expression for a_{CO_3}

For all practical cases the concentration $c_{CO_3} = a_{CO_3}/\gamma_2(\mu)$ of carbonate is much smaller than the concentration of the hydrogen plus ion. Therefore by adding the equations and observing that the charge is zero we find

$$\mu = a_H / \gamma_1(\mu) \approx m_H$$

and

$$\frac{d\mu}{d\left[H^+\right]} = 1.$$

4.3 Using equilibrium constants to express results in molalities

$$m_{OH} = \frac{10^{Kww(T)}}{\gamma_1^2(\mu) \, m_H},$$

where m_i is the molality of species *i*. Note that the concentration $c_i = \rho_w m_i$.

$$m_{CO_2} = m_{CO_3} m_H^2 \gamma_2(\mu) \gamma_1^2(\mu) \, 10^{Kab(T)}$$

where we use that the activity coefficient of carbon dioxide is one, and

$$m_{HCO3} = m_{CO3} m_H \gamma_2 \left(\mu\right) 10^{Kbb(T)}$$

The equilibrium coefficients are given as functions of the temperature T expressed in K by

$$K_{aa}(T) = -356.309 - 0.06091964T + \frac{21834.37}{T} + 126.8339 \frac{\log(T)}{\log(10)} - \frac{1684915}{T^2}$$

and

$$K_{bb}(T) = 107.8871 + 0.03252849T - \frac{5151.79}{T} - 38.92561 * \frac{\log(T)}{\log(10)} + \frac{563713.9}{T^2}$$

and

$$K_{ab}(T) = 464.1965 + 0.09344813T - \frac{26986.16}{T} - 165.75951\frac{\log(T)}{\log(10)} + \frac{2248628.9}{T^2}$$

and

$$K_{ww} = 293.29227 + 0.1360833T - \frac{10576.913}{T} - 123.73158 \frac{\log(T)}{\log(10)} + \frac{0.0}{T^2} - 6.996455 \times 10^{-5}T^2$$

We use for the temperature $100^{\circ}F = 301.78K = 37.62^{\circ}C$ because the oil data are given at that temperature and we do not need to

Using the charge balance (Eq. (50)) we can derive an equation for a_{CO_3} , i.e., $(a = \gamma c)$

$$m_{CO_3} = -\frac{1}{2} m_{HCO_3}(m_H, m_{CO_3}, T_{zero}) - \frac{1}{2} m_{OH}(m_H, T_{zero}) + \frac{1}{2} m_H \text{ or}$$

$$m_{CO_3} = -\frac{1}{2} m_{CO_3} m_H \gamma_2(\mu) \, 10^{Kbb(T)} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{10^{Kww(T)}}{\gamma_1^2(\mu) \, m_H} + \frac{1}{2} m_H$$

$$m_{CO_3} \gamma_2(\mu) \left(1 + \frac{1}{2} m_H \gamma_2(\mu) \, 10^{Kbb(T)} \right) = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{10^{Kww(T)}}{\gamma_1^2(\mu) \, m_H} + \frac{1}{2} m_H \text{ or}$$

$$m_{CO_3} = \frac{-\frac{1}{2} \frac{10^{Kww(T)}}{\gamma_1^2(\mu) \gamma_2(\mu) m_H} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{m_H}{\gamma_2(\mu)})}{\left(1 + \frac{1}{2} m_H \gamma_2(\mu) \, 10^{Kbb(T)} \right)}$$

Hence all the concentrations can be expressed in terms of the hydrogen ion concentration only.

The activity coefficients are given by the Davies expression, i.e.,

$$\ln \gamma_j(\mu) = -\frac{A_{\gamma}|z_j|^2 \sqrt{\mu}}{1 + B_{\gamma} \sqrt{\mu}} + 0.3\mu,$$
(51)

The mole fraction of carbon dioxide in the aqueous phase is given by

$$x_{a,CO_2} = \frac{m_{CO_2}}{m_{CO_2} + m_H + m_{OH} + m_{HCO_3} + m_{CO_3} + c_{H_2O}}$$

and the molality of water is $m_{H_2O} = (1000/18.01528) = 55.508 \text{ [mol/kg-water]}$.

The activity of the carbonate ion a_{CO_3} is given by

$$\begin{aligned} a_{CO_3}/\gamma_2(\mu) &= -\frac{1}{2} a_{HCO3}(a_H, a_{CO_3}, T_{zero})/\gamma_1(\mu) - \frac{1}{2} a_{OH}(a_H, T_{zero})/\gamma_1(\mu) + \frac{1}{2} a_H/\gamma_1(\mu)) \text{ or } \\ a_{CO_3} \left(1 + \frac{1}{2} a_H 10^{\circ} (Kbb(T)) \frac{\gamma_2(\mu)}{\gamma_1(\mu)} \right) &= -\frac{1}{2} 10^{Kww(T)} \frac{1}{a_H} \frac{\gamma_2(\mu)}{\gamma_1(\mu)} + \frac{1}{2} a_H \frac{\gamma_2(\mu)}{\gamma_1(\mu)}) \text{ or } \\ a_{CO_3} &= \frac{\left(-\frac{1}{2} 10^{Kww(T)} \frac{1}{a_H} + \frac{1}{2} a_H \right) \frac{\gamma_2(\mu)}{\gamma_1(\mu)}}{\left(1 + \frac{1}{2} a_H 10^{\circ} (Kbb(T)) \frac{\gamma_2(\mu)}{\gamma_1(\mu)} \right)} \\ c_{CO_3} &= \frac{-\frac{1}{2} 10^{Kww(T)} \frac{1}{c_H} \frac{\gamma_2(\mu)}{\gamma_1^2(\mu)} + \frac{1}{2} c_H}{1 + \frac{1}{2} c_H 10^{\circ} (Kbb(T)) \gamma_2(\mu)} \end{aligned}$$

Substitution of the equilibrium expressions leads to

$$a_{CO_3} = \frac{\frac{1}{2}a_H - \frac{1}{2a_H} 10^{(Kww(T))}}{\left(\frac{\gamma_1(\mu)}{\gamma_2(\mu)} + \frac{1}{2}a_H 10^{(-Kbb(T))}\right)}$$

$$m_{tot} = (10^{(Kww(T))}/a_H/\gamma_1(\mu) + 10^{(-Kaa(T) - Kbb(T))}a_{CO3}a_Ha_H/\gamma_{co2}(\mu) + a_{CO3}a_H 10^{(-Kbb(T))}/\gamma_1(\mu) + a_{CO3}/\gamma_2(\mu) + a_{H2O} + a_H/\gamma_1(\mu)),$$
(52)

which can be reduced by simplified notation and using that $\gamma_{co2}(\mu(x)) = 1$. Also we use that $T = T_{zero}$.

For the density mole fraction products we find

 $c_{a,H(1)} = \overline{\rho}_w \left(10^{(Kww(T))} / a_H / \gamma_1(\mu) + a_{CO3} a_H 10^{(-Kbb(T))} / \gamma_1(\mu) + 2a_{H_2O} + a_H / \gamma_1(\mu(x,y)) \right) / m_{tot} (AH) ,$

and

$$c_{a,O(-2)} = \overline{\rho}_{w} \begin{pmatrix} 10^{(Kww(T))}/a_{H}/\gamma_{1}(\mu) + 3a_{CO3}a_{H}10^{(-Kbb(T))}/\gamma_{1}(\mu) \\ +2 \times 10^{(-Kaa(T)-Kbb(T))}a_{CO3}a_{H}a_{H}/\gamma_{co2}(\mu) \\ +a_{H_{2}O} + 3a_{CO3}/\gamma_{2}(\mu) \end{pmatrix} / m_{tot} (AH),$$

It is convenient to subtract the total hydrogen from twice the oxygen and to obtain

4.4 Eliminating H_2O

In our ionic model (ICDOW) we employ equations of zero diffusion coefficients. We do so because it is well known that for upscaled equations the convection terms dominate the diffusion terms. The Riemann solution for this model can therefore be applied for upscaled transport processes in enhanced oil recovery involving geochemical aspects.

Leaving out the diffusion terms, we reformulate the system (40)- (43) in three conservation equations, in which we substitute regression expressions that are obtained by geochemical software PHREEQC. To do so, we use that one can verify that the balance equations (40)- (43) imply the charge conservation equation: $x_{a,CO_3^{2-}} + x_{a,HCO_3^{-}} + x_{a,OH^-} - x_{a,H^+} = 0$. We are therefore allowed to replace one balance equation by the charge conservation equation, which is an algebraic equation. Alternatively, we can combine the hydrogen and oxygen balance equations into a single equation, in such a way that the water concentration is eliminated, and use the charge conservation equation together with the combination of the hydrogen and oxygen balance equation to complete the system of equations. This replacement may to enhance stability in numerical simulations as the water concentration (~55.5 mole/liter) is much higher than the other concentrations, causing instability problems in the simulations. Thus, denoting by $\rho_{a,O-H} = 2\rho_{a,O(2)} - \rho_{a,H(1)}$, we reduce (40)- (43) without diffusion to a system of three conservation laws for total organic carbon, oxygen plus hydrogen and decane as

$$\partial_t \left(\varphi s_w \rho_{a,C(4)} \right) + \partial_x \left(u f_w \rho_{a,C(4)} \right) = 0, \tag{53}$$

$$\partial_t \left(\varphi(s_w \rho_{a,O-H} + 4s_o \rho_{o,CO_2}) \right) + \partial_x \left(u(f_w \rho_{a,O-H} + 4f_o \rho_{o,CO_2}) \right) = 0, \tag{54}$$

$$\partial_t \left(\varphi s_o \rho_{o,C(-4)} \right) + \partial_x \left(u f_o \rho_{o,C(-4)} \right) = 0, \tag{55}$$

where the unknowns are the water saturation, the y = pH and Darcy velocity, i.e., (s_w, y, u) . We have that $\rho_{a,C(4)}$, $\rho_{a,O-H}$, $\rho_{o,C(-4)}$ and ρ_{o,CO_2} are differentiable positive functions that depend only on the pH.

5 Riemann problem for ICDOW model

The system of conservation laws (53)-(55), disregarding diffusion terms can be rewritten as:

$$\frac{\partial G(s_w, y)}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial (u\hat{F}(s_w, y))}{\partial x} = 0,$$
(56)

where the accumulation and flux functions can rewritten as $G(s_w, y)$ and $u\widehat{F}(s_w, y)$, with

$$(G_1, G_2, G_3)^T = \varphi(s_w \rho_{a,C(4)}, s_w \rho_{a,O-H} + 4s_o \rho_{o,CO_2}, s_o \rho_{o,C(-4)})^T,$$
(57)

$$(\widehat{F}_1, \widehat{F}_2, \widehat{F}_3)^T = (f_w \rho_{a,C(4)}, f_w \rho_{a,O-H} + 4f_o \rho_{o,CO_2} f_o \rho_{o,C(-4)})^T.$$
(58)

To simulated the injection of CO_2 in a reservoir, we are interested in to solve the Riemann-Goursat problem associated with (56), i.e. the solution of (56) with piecewise constant initial and boundary data

$$\begin{cases} (s_{wl}, y_l, u_l) & \text{if } x = 0, t > 0, \\ (s_{wr}, y_r, .) & \text{if } x > 0, t = 0. \end{cases}$$
(59)

We do not impose conditions on the downstream total velocity u_r because this quantity is obtained from the other variables and the solution of the system. In equation (59) the side r represents the initial conditions of the reservoir, while the side l represents the conditions of injection in the reservoir.

The method of characteristics (MOC) is appropriate for seeking analytical solutions of compositional models (see e.g. [111, 28, 25, 44, 83, 51]). The analytical solution is obtained by the concatenation of rarefaction and shock waves satisfying certain admissibility conditions. This method is the primary basis of the Buckley-Leverett theory ([58, 19]), which is the foundation work for Mathematical Modeling of Oil Recovery. In this paper, we obtain the analytic solution in the form of a Riemann solver by employing the Oleinik entropy condition, Liu's and Lax's criteria to ensure the existence of a unique solution of the Riemann-Goursat problem ([57, 74, 42, 60, 61]). In addition, the application of such a method allows to obtain loci in state space where the Riemann solution changes structure, such as the coincidence and inflection loci. These structures are useful both to build the analytical solution, and to determine the bifurcation curves where abrupt changes of the behavior of the solution are expected, which has significance in mathematical modeling of oil recovery. We, also provide the numerical solution by two numerical solvers.

The proposed model taking into account non constant Darcy velocity is important. It can be used for preliminary investigations of the behavior of injection of water of CO_2 with brine water with two-phase homogeneous systems. The Riemann solver presented can be used to verify numerical solutions for compositional models; moreover the numerical method presented here also verified the accuracy of the Riemann solution. In this solver we described all the low and fast wave paths present in the solution in a unified manner.

5.1 Solving the Riemann-Goursat problem by MOC

The basis for MOC for Riemann problems is to assume that the independent variables (s_w, y, u) are functions of the variable $\xi = x/t$, which is possible because the Riemann solution are scale invariant under the map $(t, x) \to (\alpha t, \alpha x)$; then we can take $(s_w, y, u)(x, t) = (s_w, y, u)(x(\xi), t(\xi)) = (s_w, y, u)(\xi)$ with characteristic lines $\xi = x/t$.

5.2 Characteristic analysis

MOC allows to calculate the velocity at which the waves propagate through the porous medium. The basis of the method is to assume that the independent variables $W = (s_w, y, u)$ are functions of the variable $\xi = x/t$. Along the characteristic curves we have

$$dW = \frac{\partial W}{\partial t}dt + \frac{\partial W}{\partial x}dx.$$

Using the system of conservation law (56-58), we obtain along characteristic curves for i = 1, 2, 3

$$\frac{\partial G_i}{\partial W}\frac{dW}{dt} + \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial W}\frac{dW}{dx} = 0,$$
(60)

where

$$\frac{\partial G_i}{\partial W} = \frac{\partial G_i}{\partial s_w} \frac{ds_w}{d\xi} + \frac{\partial G_i}{\partial y} \frac{dy}{d\xi} + \frac{\partial G_i}{\partial u} \frac{du}{d\xi}, \quad \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial W} = \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial s_w} \frac{ds_w}{d\xi} + \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial y} \frac{dy}{d\xi} + \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial u} \frac{du}{d\xi}.$$

In matrix format equation (60) can be rewritten as

$$\left(-\xi\frac{\partial G}{\partial W} + \frac{\partial F}{\partial W}\right)\frac{dW}{\partial\xi} = 0,\tag{61}$$

where $A = \frac{\partial F}{\partial W}$ and $B = \frac{\partial G}{\partial W}$ with $W = (s_w, y, u)$ are obtained as

$$\frac{\partial G}{\partial W} = \begin{pmatrix} \varphi \rho_{a,C(4)} & \varphi s_w \rho'_{a,C(4)} & 0\\ \varphi \rho_{a,O-H} & \varphi s_w \rho'_{a,O-H} + 4\varphi (1-s_w) \rho'_{o,CO_2} & 0\\ -\varphi \rho_{o,C(-4)} & \varphi (1-s_w) \rho'_{o,C(-4)} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and}$$

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial F_1}{\partial s_w} &= u \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w} \rho_{a,C(4)}, \quad \frac{\partial F_1}{\partial y} = u f_w \rho'_{a,C(4)} + u \rho_{a,C(4)} \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial y}, \quad \frac{\partial F_1}{\partial u} = f_w \rho_{a,C(4)}, \\ \frac{\partial F_2}{\partial s_w} &= u \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w} (\rho_{a,O-H} - 4\rho_{o,CO_2}), \quad \frac{\partial F_2}{\partial u} = f_w \rho_{a,O-H} + 4(1 - f_w) \rho_{o,CO_2}, \\ \frac{\partial F_2}{\partial y} &= u f_w \rho'_{a,O-H} + 4u(1 - f_w) \rho'_{o,CO_2} + u(\rho_{a,O-H} - 4\rho_{o,CO_2}) \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial y}, \\ \frac{\partial F_3}{\partial s_w} &= -u \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w} \rho_{o,C(-4)}, \quad \frac{\partial F_3}{\partial y} = u(1 - f_w) \rho'_{o,C(-4)} - u \rho_{o,C(-4)} \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial y}, \\ \frac{\partial F_3}{\partial u} &= (1 - f_w) \rho_{o,C(-4)}. \\ \text{Let us denote} \\ \rho_1 &= \rho_{a,C(4)}, \rho_4 = \rho_{o,C(-4)}, \rho_5 = \rho_{o,CO_2}, \rho_6 = \rho_{a,O-H}, \text{ and} \end{split}$$

$$\alpha_1 = f_w \rho_1' + \rho_1 \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial y}, \quad \alpha_2 = s_w \rho_1', \tag{62}$$

$$\beta_1 = f_w \rho_6' + 4(1-f)\rho_5' + (\rho_6 - 4\rho_5) \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial y}, \quad \beta_2 = s_w \rho_6' + (1-s_w)\rho_5', \tag{63}$$

$$\theta_1 = (1 - f_w)\rho'_4 - \rho_4 \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial y}, \quad \theta_2 = (1 - s_w)\rho'_4, \quad \Lambda = \frac{\phi}{u}\lambda.$$
(64)

To obtain the eigenvalues of (61), we solve $det(A - \lambda B) = 0$, i.e.,

$$det \begin{pmatrix} u\left(\frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w} - \Lambda\right)\rho_1 & u\left(\alpha_1 - \Lambda\alpha_2\right) & f_w\rho_1 \\ u\left(\frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w} - \Lambda\right)\left(\rho_6 - 4\rho_5\right) & u\left(\beta_1 - \Lambda\beta_2\right) & f_w\rho_6 + 4(1 - f_w)\rho_5 \\ -u\left(\frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w} - \Lambda\right)\rho_4 & u\left(\theta_1 - \Lambda\theta_2\right) & (1 - f_w)\rho_4 \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$
(65)

Substituting in (65), the second row by the sum of the first row multiplied by $(\rho_6 - 4\rho_5)$ with second row multiplied by $-\rho_1$. Similarly, we substitute the third row by the sum of the first row multiplied by ρ_4 with second third row multiplied by ρ_1 . Also, denoting $\gamma_2 = (\rho_6 - 4\rho_5)$, we obtain that $det(A - \lambda B)$ is

$$u^{2}det \begin{pmatrix} \left(\frac{\partial f_{w}}{\partial s_{w}} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\right)\rho_{1} & \left(\alpha_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\alpha_{2}\right) & \widehat{F}_{1} \\ 0 & \gamma_{2}\left(\alpha_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\alpha_{2}\right) - \rho_{1}\left(\beta_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\beta_{2}\right) & \gamma_{2}\widehat{F}_{1} - \rho_{1}\widehat{F}_{2} \\ 0 & \rho_{1}\left(\alpha_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\alpha_{2}\right) + \rho_{4}\left(\theta_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\theta_{2}\right) & \rho_{4}\widehat{F}_{1} + \rho_{1}\widehat{F}_{3} \end{pmatrix}$$
(66)

The third column in (66) can be rewritten in terms of

$$\gamma_2 \widehat{F_1} - \rho_1 \widehat{F_2} = -4\rho_1 \rho_5$$
, and $\rho_4 \widehat{F_1} + \rho_1 \widehat{F_3} = \rho_1 \rho_4$.

Now, we substitute the second row by the sum of the third row multiplied by $4\rho_1\rho_5$ with the second row multiplied by $\rho_1\rho_4$ in (66), we obtain that $det(A - \lambda B)$ is

$$u^{2}det \begin{pmatrix} \left(\frac{\partial f_{w}}{\partial s_{w}} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\right)\rho_{1} & \left(\alpha_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\alpha_{2}\right) & \widehat{F_{1}}\\ 0 & \gamma_{3} & 0\\ 0 & \rho_{4}\left(\alpha_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\alpha_{2}\right) + \rho_{1}\left(\theta_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\theta_{2}\right) & \rho_{4}\rho_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (67)$$

where

$$\gamma_{3} = \rho_{1}\rho_{4}\left(\gamma_{2}\left(\alpha_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\alpha_{2}\right) - \rho_{1}\left(\beta_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\beta_{2}\right)\right) + 4\rho_{1}\rho_{5}\rho_{4}\left(\alpha_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\alpha_{2}\right) + 4\rho_{1}\rho_{5}\rho_{1}\left(\theta_{1} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda\theta_{2}\right).$$
(68)

Then equation (67) leads to the eigenvalues. One of the eigenvalues satisfies $\frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda = 0$, which implies that

$$\lambda_{s_w} = \frac{u}{\varphi} \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w}.$$

From (68) the second eigenvalue is given by $\gamma_3 = 0$. Using (62), (63) and (64), we obtain the second eigenvalue as

$$\lambda_{H} = -\frac{u}{\varphi} \left(\frac{\rho_{1}\gamma_{2}\rho_{4}\alpha_{1} - \rho_{1}^{2}\rho_{4}\beta_{1} + 4\rho_{1}\rho_{5}\rho_{4}\alpha_{1} + 4\rho_{1}^{2}\rho_{5}\rho_{4}'(1 - f_{w}) - \rho_{1}^{2}\rho_{5}\rho_{4}(\partial f_{w}/\partial y)}{-\rho_{1}\gamma_{2}\rho_{4}\alpha_{2} + \rho_{1}^{2}\rho_{4}\beta_{2} - 4\rho_{1}\rho_{5}\rho_{4}\alpha_{2} - 4\rho_{1}^{2}\rho_{5}\rho_{4}'(1 - s_{w})} \right).$$
$$\lambda_{H} = \frac{u}{\varphi} \left(\frac{-4\rho_{1}\rho_{4}\rho_{5}' + 4\rho_{1}\rho_{5}\rho_{4}' + (\rho_{4}\rho_{6}\rho_{1}' - \rho_{1}\rho_{4}\rho_{6}' + 4\rho_{1}\rho_{4}\rho_{5}' - 4\rho_{1}\rho_{5}\rho_{4}')f_{w}}{-4\rho_{1}\rho_{4}\rho_{5}' + 4\rho_{1}\rho_{5}\rho_{4}' + (\rho_{4}\rho_{6}\rho_{1}' - \rho_{1}\rho_{4}\rho_{6}' + 4\rho_{1}\rho_{4}\rho_{5}' - 4\rho_{1}\rho_{5}\rho_{4}')f_{w}} \right).$$

Using Equations (62) and (63), Equations (5.2) can be rewritten in a more understandable way. Let us introduce

$$\Delta_1 = \rho_4 \rho_6 \rho_1' - \rho_1 \rho_4 \rho_6' + 4\rho_1 \rho_4 \rho_5' - 4\rho_1 \rho_5 \rho_4' \quad \text{and} \quad \Delta_2 = -4\rho_1 \rho_4 \rho_5' + 4\rho_1 \rho_5 \rho_4'.$$
(69)

Then we have

$$\lambda_H = \frac{u}{\varphi} \frac{\Delta_1 f_w + \Delta_2}{\Delta_1 s_w + \Delta_2}$$

The first eigenvalue is associated to the eigenvector $\vec{r}_s = (1, 0, 0)^T$ (saturation wave) and the second eigenvector $\vec{r} = (r_1, r_2, r_3)$ (chemical composition waves) from (61) and (67) for $\xi = \lambda_H$ and $dW/d\xi = \vec{r}$ holds

$$u\left(\frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_s} - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda_H\right)\rho_1 r_1 + u\left(\alpha_1 - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda_H\alpha_2\right)r_2 + \widehat{F_1}r_3 = 0,\tag{70}$$

and

$$\left(u\rho_4\left(\alpha_1 - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda_H\alpha_2\right) + u\rho_1\left(\theta_1 - \frac{\varphi}{u}\lambda_H\theta_2\right)\right)r_2 + \rho_1\rho_4r_3 = 0.$$
(71)

Taking $r_3 = u$, and denoting $d\rho_1 = \rho'_1/\rho_1$, $d\rho_4 = \rho'_4/\rho_4$ we obtain from (70)-(71) that

$$r_{1} = \frac{-f_{w} - (d\rho_{1}(f_{w} - \Lambda_{H}s_{w}) + \frac{\partial f_{w}}{\partial y})r_{2}}{(\frac{\partial f_{w}}{\partial s_{w}} - \Lambda_{H})}, \quad r_{2} = -\frac{1}{(f_{w} - \Lambda_{H}s_{w})(d\rho_{1} - d\rho_{4}) + d\rho_{4}(1 - \Lambda_{H})}$$
(72)

Multiplying r_3 , r_1 and r_2 in (72), by a product of its denominators a, we obtain the eigenvector $r_H = a(r_1, r_2, r_3) = (r_H^1, r_H^2, r_H^3)$

$$\begin{aligned} r_H^1 &= \left(\left(-f_w ((f_w - \Lambda_H s_w)(d\rho_1 - d\rho_4) + d\rho_4(1 - \Lambda_H)) \right) - d\rho_1 (f_w - \Lambda_H s_w) - \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial y}, \\ r_H^2 &= -\left(\frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w} - \Lambda_H \right), r_H^3 = u \left(\frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w} - \Lambda_H \right) \left((f_w - \Lambda_H s_w)(d\rho_1 - d\rho_4) + d\rho_4(1 - \Lambda_H)), \end{aligned}$$

where $\Lambda_H = (\varphi/u)\lambda_H$.

Eigenvalues and eigenvector, can rewritten in original variable as

$$\lambda_s = \frac{u}{\varphi} \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w}, \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda_H = \frac{u}{\varphi} \frac{\Delta_1 f_w + \Delta_2}{\Delta_1 s_w + \Delta_2}, \tag{73}$$

where

$$\Delta_1 = \rho_{o,C(-4)}\rho_{a,O-H}\rho'_{a,C(4)} - \rho_{a,C(4)}\rho_{o,C(-4)}\rho'_{a,O-H} - \Delta_2, \tag{74}$$

$$\Delta_2 = -4\rho_{a,C(4)}\rho_{o,C(-4)}\rho'_{o,CO_2} + 4\rho_{a,C(4)}\rho_{o,CO_2}\rho'_{o,C(-4)}.$$
(75)

Here Δ_i with i = 1, 2 depend only on y. Another solution of (61) is ξ equal to infinity, which is associated to perturbations of variable u. The eigenvector of system (61) for $\xi = \lambda_s$ is $\vec{r}_{s_w} = (1, 0, 0)^T$ (saturation wave) while the eigenvector for $\xi = \lambda_H$ is $\vec{r}_H =$

 (r_H^1, r_H^2, r_H^3) (chemical composition wave), i.e.:

$$\begin{aligned} r_{H}^{1} &= ((-f_{w}((f_{w} - \Lambda_{H}s_{w})(d\rho_{a,C(4)} - d\rho_{o,C(-4)}) + d\rho_{o,C(-4)}(1 - \Lambda_{H}))) \\ &- d\rho_{o,C(4)}(f_{w} - \Lambda_{H}s_{w}) - \frac{\partial f_{w}}{\partial y}, \quad r_{H}^{2} = -(\frac{\partial f_{w}}{\partial s_{w}} - \Lambda_{H}), \\ r_{H}^{3} &= u(\frac{\partial f_{w}}{\partial s_{w}} - \Lambda_{H})((f_{w} - \Lambda_{H}s_{w})(d\rho_{a,C(4)} - d\rho_{o,C(-4)}) + d\rho_{o,C(-4)}(1 - \Lambda_{H})), \end{aligned}$$

where $\Lambda_H = (\varphi/u)\lambda_H$, $d\rho_{a,C(4)} = \rho'_{a,C(4)}/\rho_{a,C(4)}$ and $d\rho_{a,C(-4)} = \rho'_{a,C(-4)}/\rho_{a,C(-4)}$. The saturation rarefaction curves then are obtained by solving the ordinary differ-

The saturation rarefaction curves then are obtained by solving the ordinary differential equation $d\mathcal{R}_S/d\xi = \vec{r}_{s_w}$ and $d\mathcal{R}_H/d\xi = \vec{r}_H$. Thus such waves are represented by curves with constant hydrogen concentration and it is possible to verify that along such a wave the velocity u is constant also. In this case, we reach the classical Buckley-Leverett rarefaction waves, which can also be obtained by the fractional flow method. It rarefaction curve in which only the saturation varies is denoted by \mathcal{R}_{s_w} ; it are associated to $(\lambda_{s_w}, \vec{r}_{s_w})$. The rarefaction curves in which, generically, all variables change are denoted as \mathcal{R}_H ; they are associated to (λ_H, \vec{r}_H) . The final step to obtain the chemical rarefaction wave consists of integration of the first order differential equations

$$ds_w/d\xi = r_H^1(s_w, y) \quad dy/d\xi = r_H^2(s_w, y) \quad \text{and} \quad du/d\xi = r_H^3(s_w, y, u).$$
(76)

Equations (76*a*) and (76*b*) must be solved before solving (76*c*) to find $s_w(\xi)$ and $y(\xi)$. This decomposition is very useful from the numerical point of view as well. Notice that along such a compositional curve both saturation and hydrogen vary, so this wave is not trivial and it cannot be obtained by the fractional flow method.

5.3 Rankine Hugoniot conditions

Another possible type of solution for the system (53)-(55) represents discontinuities. They are shocks that satisfy the Rankine-Hugoniot relationships

$$u^{-} (f_{w}\rho_{a,C(4)})^{-} - u^{+} (f_{w}\rho_{a,C(4)})^{+} - \sigma\varphi \left((S_{w}\rho_{a,C(4)})^{-} - (S_{w}\rho_{a,C(4)})^{+} \right) = 0,$$

$$u^{-} \left(f_{w}(\rho_{a,O-H} + 4\rho_{a,CO_{2}})^{-} - u^{+} \left(f_{w}(\rho_{a,O-H} + 4\rho_{a,CO_{2}}) \right)^{+} - \sigma\varphi \left(\left(S_{w}(\rho_{a,O-H} + 4\rho_{a,CO_{2}}) \right)^{-} - \left(S_{w}(\rho_{a,O-H} + 4\rho_{a,CO_{2}}) \right)^{+} \right) = 0,$$

$$u^{-} \left(f_{o}\rho_{o,C(-4)} \right)^{-} - u^{+} \left(f_{o}\rho_{o,C(-4)} \right)^{+} - \sigma\varphi \left(\left(S_{o}\rho_{o,C(-4)} \right)^{-} - \left(S_{o}\rho_{o,C(-4)} \right)^{+} \right) = 0.$$

To find a nontrivial solution for u^+ , u^- and $\varphi\sigma$ the determinant

$$\begin{pmatrix} (f_w \rho_{a,C(4)})^- & (f_w \rho_{a,C(4)})^+ & ((S_w \rho_{a,C(4)})^- - (S_w \rho_{a,C(4)})^+) \\ (f_w \rho_A)^- & (f_w \rho_A)^+ & ((S_w \rho_A)^- - (S_w \rho_A)^+) \\ (f_o \rho_{o,C(-4)})^- & (f_o \rho_{o,C(-4)})^+ & ((S_o \rho_{o,C(-4)})^- - (S_o \rho_{o,C(-4)})^+) \end{vmatrix} = 0,$$
(77)

where $\rho_A = \rho_{a,O-H} + 4\rho_{a,CO_2}$. or

$$HL(s_w, y) := det \begin{pmatrix} \widehat{F_1}^+ & -\widehat{F_1}^- & [G_1] \\ \widehat{F_2}^+ & -\widehat{F_2}^- & [G_2] \\ \widehat{F_3}^+ & -\widehat{F_3}^- & [G_3] \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$
(78)

Let us denote by $[G] = G^+ - G^-$ and $[F] = u^+ \widehat{F}^+ - u^- \widehat{F}^-$ i.e.,

$$\sigma(G_i^+ - G_i^-) - (u^- - u^+)\widehat{F}_i^+ - u^-(\widehat{F}_i^+ - \widehat{F}_i^-) = 0, \quad \text{with} \quad i = 1, 2, 3, \tag{79}$$

where G_i^- , F_i^- and G_i^+ , F_i^+ are the accumulation and flux evaluated at the left (s_w^-, y^-, u^-) and right (s_w^+, y^+, u^+) states. Here $\widehat{F_1}$, $\widehat{F_2}$ and $\widehat{F_3}$ are given in (58) and G_1 , G_2 and G_3 are given in (57).

Using (79) determinant in (78) can be rewritten as

$$HL(s_w, y) := det \begin{pmatrix} -[\widehat{F_1}] & \widehat{F_1}^+ & [G_1] \\ -[\widehat{F_2}] & \widehat{F_2}^+ & [G_2] \\ -[\widehat{F_3}] & \widehat{F_3}^+ & [G_3] \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$
(80)

This is an equation in the variables S_w and y. Notice that if the classical RH condition is satisfied, so that the first column is proportional to the last one, then equation (80) is also satisfied. In other words, classical shocks belong to the RH curve, but there could be other discontinuities satisfying (80).

The curve found in (S_w, y) space gives the possible discontinuities that satisfy the Rankine-Hugoniot conditions. The shock curves in which only the saturation varies are denoted by S_s . Shock curves in which, generically, all variables change are denoted as S_H .

One can verified that Hugoniot locus is the union of two branches (see Figure 2), i.e. $S_s \cup S_H$, with

$$S_s = \{ (S_w^+, y^+) : y^+ - y^- = 0 \}.$$
(81)

Along this branch we have that $u = u^+ = u^-$ and $\sigma = u[\widehat{F}_i]/[G_i]$, with i = 1, 2, 3. Thus we call this curve as Buckley Leverett shock. And

$$S_{H} = \{ (S_{w}^{+}, y^{+}) : \frac{\partial HL}{\partial y} (S_{w}^{-}, y^{-}) + \frac{\partial^{2} HL}{\partial y^{2}} (S_{w}^{-}, y^{-}) (y^{+} - y^{-}) + \frac{\partial^{3} HL}{\partial y^{3}} (S_{w}^{-}, y^{-}) (y^{+} - y^{-})^{2} + O(y^{+} - y^{-})^{3} = 0 \},$$

where HL is given in (80).



Figure 2: Branches of the Hugoniot locus.

Above statement is obtained using Taylor's Series for HL and that $HL(s_w^-, y^-) = 0$ and $\frac{\partial^k HL}{\partial s_w^k}(s_w^-, y^-) = 0$ hold, for $k = 1, \ldots$ we prove here $\frac{\partial HL}{\partial s_w}(s_w^-, y^-) = 0$, the rest is similar.

Derivation of (78) produces

$$\frac{\partial HL}{\partial s_w}(s_w^+, y^+) = det \begin{pmatrix} \partial(\widehat{F_1}^+)/\partial s_w & -\widehat{F_1}^- & [G_1] \\ \partial(\widehat{F_2}^+)/\partial s_w & -\widehat{F_2}^- & [G_2] \\ \partial(\widehat{F_3}^+)/\partial s_w & -\widehat{F_3}^- & [G_3] \end{pmatrix} + det \begin{pmatrix} \widehat{F_1}^+ & -\widehat{F_1}^- & \partial[G_1]/\partial s_w \\ \widehat{F_2}^+ & -\widehat{F_2}^- & \partial[G_2/\partial s_w \\ \widehat{F_3}^+ & -\widehat{F_3}^- & \partial[G_3]/\partial s_w \end{pmatrix},$$
(82)

$$\frac{\partial HL}{\partial s_{w}}(s_{w}^{+},y^{+}) = det \begin{pmatrix} \left(\rho_{a,C(4)}\right)^{+}f_{w}' & -\widehat{F_{1}}^{-} & [G_{1}] \\ \left(\rho_{A}\right)^{+}f_{w}' & -\widehat{F_{2}}^{-} & [G_{2}] \\ -\left(\rho_{o,C(-4)}\right)^{+}f_{w}' & -\widehat{F_{3}}^{-} & [G_{3}] \end{pmatrix} + det \begin{pmatrix} \widehat{F_{1}}^{+} & -\widehat{F_{1}}^{-} & \left(\rho_{a,C(4)}\right)^{+} \\ \widehat{F_{2}}^{+} & -\widehat{F_{2}}^{-} & \left(\rho_{A}\right)^{+} \\ \widehat{F_{3}}^{+} & -\widehat{F_{3}}^{-} & -\left(\rho_{o,C(-4)}\right)^{+} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(83)

Summing first and second column of second determinant in (83) we obtain

$$\frac{\partial HL}{\partial s_w}(s_w^+, y^+) = det \begin{pmatrix} \left(\rho_{a,C(4)}\right)^+ f'_w & -\widehat{F_1}^- & [G_1] \\ \left(\rho_A\right)^+ f'_w & -\widehat{F_2}^- & [G_2] \\ -\left(\rho_{o,C(-4)}\right)^+ f'_w & -\widehat{F_3}^- & [G_3] \end{pmatrix} \\ + det \begin{pmatrix} -[\widehat{F_1}] & -\widehat{F_1}^- & \left(\rho_{a,C(4)}\right)^+ \\ -[\widehat{F_2}] & -\widehat{F_2}^- & \left(\rho_A\right)^+ \\ -[\widehat{F_3}] & -\widehat{F_3}^- & -\left(\rho_{o,C(-4)}\right)^+ \end{pmatrix}.$$

Applying properties of determinant we have,

$$\frac{\partial HL}{\partial s_w}(s_w^+, y^+) = det \begin{pmatrix} \left(\rho_{a,C(4)}\right)^+ & -\widehat{F_1}^- & [G_1]f'_w - [\widehat{F_1}] \\ \left(\rho_A\right)^+ & -\widehat{F_2}^- & [G_2]f'_w - [\widehat{F_2}] \\ -\left(\rho_{o,C(-4)}\right)^+ & -\widehat{F_3}^- & [G_13f'_w - [\widehat{F_3}] \end{pmatrix},$$
(84)

or

$$\frac{\partial HL}{\partial s_w}(s_w^+, y^+) = (\lambda_{s_w} - \sigma)det \begin{pmatrix} \left(\rho_{a,C(4)}\right)^+ & -\widehat{F_1}^- & [G_1] \\ \left(\rho_A\right)^+ & -\widehat{F_2}^- & [G_2] \\ -\left(\rho_{o,C(-4)}\right)^+ f'_w & -\widehat{F_3}^- & [G_3] \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (85)

From (85) is obtained $\frac{\partial HL}{\partial s_w}(s_w^-, y^-) = 0.$

5.4 Regression expressions

In the equations below $y = \ln[H^+]$, where $[H^+]$ is the concentration [mol/liter] of the hydrogen ion (here calculated at $39^{\circ}C$).

36

or

$$ln \left[CO_3^{2-} \right] = 51242105.771024 * exp(2.73572178786335 * y) + 6.69820568753213e - 14* \\ \sinh(2.02342646169015 * y) - 23.5002456098875 \left[mol/liter \right],$$

$$\ln \left[CO_3^{2-} \right] = 51242105.771024 \exp(2.73572178786335y) + 6.69820568753213e - 14 \sinh(2.02342646169015y) - 23.5002456098875,$$

$$\ln [CO_2] = 14.3412082339566 + 1.98420301521895 * y + 1.42894959991698e - 13* sinh(1.97397032954743 * y) [mol/liter],$$

 $\ln[HCO3] = y - 3.72509519022871e - 17*\sinh(-2.50221714601476*y), [mol/liter]$

 $\ln[HCO3] = y - 3.72509519022871e - 17 * sinh(-2.50221714601476 * y),$

$$[H_2O] = 116798.454030875 + 486.844910347393^* \exp(y) - 116743.356027846^* \cosh(y^* \exp(y)),$$

$$\begin{split} [H2O] &= 116798.454030875 + 486.844910347393 exp(y) - 116743.356027846 \cosh(yexp(y)), \\ &\ln[OH^-] = -31.2 - y, \ [mol/liter], \\ &ln \left[OH^-\right] = -31.2 - y, \end{split}$$

5.5 Bifurcation curves

Here some elements that determine the Riemann solution are presented: coincidence and inflection loci, which are region boundaries where rarefaction wave curves change. Moreover the procedure for building the analytical solution through admissible wave curves is shown.

5.5.1 Coincidence locus

Rarefaction wave solutions of the Riemann problem can suffer structural modifications along the surfaces where wave velocities coincide. In our case the coincidence locus in the projected state space (s_w, y) is given as the set where velocities λ_s and λ_H in (73) are equal, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ (s_w, y) : \frac{\partial f_w}{\partial s_w} = \frac{\Delta_1 f_w + \Delta_2}{\Delta_1 s_w + \Delta_2} \right\},\,$$

where Δ_1 and Δ_2 are given in (74) and (75), respectively. When the variables s_w and y vary, we have a coincidence surface. Choosing certain experimental data of interest obtained with the PHREEQC program, the coincidence locus consist of two curves in (s_w, y) space for fixed u (see Figure 3).

5.5.2 Inflection locus

Points on the inflection locus are those where genuine nonlinearity is not satisfied ([57]), i.e., we define the inflection locus for saturation waves and for composition waves as:

$$I_{k} = \left\{ (s_{w}, y, u) : \nabla \lambda_{k} \cdot r_{k} = \frac{\partial \lambda_{k}}{\partial s_{w}} r_{k}^{1} + \frac{\partial \lambda_{k}}{\partial y} r_{k}^{2} + \frac{\partial \lambda_{k}}{\partial u} r_{k}^{3} = 0 \right\},$$

with $k = S_s, S_H$. It is possible to check the following fact: in the projected state space the inflection locus for the saturation wave is the curve

$$I_s = \{(s_w, y) : f''_w(s_w) = 0\},\$$

for any fixed u, where f''_w is the second derivative of the flux f_w relatively to s_w . The inflection locus is important because it indicates where the rarefaction curves stop. For the examples discussed here the inflection locus for composition waves consist of four disconnected curves: one where the pH is approximately constant, one vertical line, where the saturation is constant and two other curves that are also coincidence curves for the eigenvalues. On the other hand (see Figure 3), the inflection locus for rarefaction wave consists of a line of constant saturation.

Figure 3 shows a typical example in experiments where the composition rarefaction waves have an inflection and necessarily have to stop.



Figure 3: For the variable oil viscosity case. Dashed lines represents the inflection locus for the saturation wave, while the bold line represents the inflection locus for the case of composition waves. Here the coincidence curves are denoted by \mathbf{A} , which are also inflection loci.

5.6 Numerical and Analytical solutions

By means of the analytical solution we study water and CO_2 flooding. Assuming that oil viscosity is constant, the structure of the Riemann solution for the examples with left (upstream) state ($s_w = 0.8, pH = 2.7$) to right (downstream) state ($s_w = 0.15, pH = 4$) consists of two rarefaction waves separated by a chemical shock; the latter is continued with a constant state and finally a fast Buckley-Leverett saturation shock. In the first rarefaction wave only the saturation changes, while in the second one both saturation and composition change. The connection point between the rarefaction waves can be constructed from a curve of states where the two characteristic velocities coincide.

In Figure 4 the analytical and numerical solutions obtained by software COMSOL and Riemann solver is shown. It shows that both solutions match almost indistinguishable. Comparing the results, we can clearly see the existence of a saturation rarefaction wave $\mathcal{R}_s(J)$ connecting J to M_1 then a chemical wave rarefaction wave $\mathcal{R}_H(M_1, M_2)$ connecting M_1 to M_2 , then a chemical shock wave $\mathcal{S}_H(M_2, M_3)$ connecting M_2 to M_3 , with the shock speed $2.99 \times 10^{-5} m/s$ with the analytical method, $2.9 \times 10^{-5} m/s$ from COMSOL simulation. After M_3 there is a constant state and then a shock saturation wave $S_s(M_3, R)$ connecting M_3 to I. This saturation shock speed is $4.37 \times 10^{-5} m/s$ with analytical method, and $4.33 \times 10^{-5} m/s$ with COMSOL simulation.



Figure 4: a)- left. The saturation profile from the COMSOL simulation (solid curve) a function of time scaled position compared with the analytical solution (dashed curve). b)- right. The pH profile from the COMSOL simulation (solid curve) compared with the analytical solution (dashed curve).

In the Figure 5 the hydrogen and saturation wave at different time instants is shown. The hydrogen concentration is characterized by a constant state, a shock like behavior



Figure 5: The saturation, inert tracer (chloride) and the hydrogen ion concentration in the ICDOW model

and then a rarefaction. The saturation profile is a typically Buckley-Leverett profile.

In Fig. 6 we have added the decane concentration. We note that the behavior of decane at very low pH depends on a single data point and a literature search is required to get more data points. All the same the conclusion reached previously that the presence of carbon dioxide is strongly affecting the results still remains.

6 Conclusions

We developed a Riemann solver to obtain solutions for oil recovery problems including geochemical aspects. The methodology is adequate for one dimensional incompressible two-phase flow in porous media involving several chemical components.

As there is mass transfer between phases and the partial molar volume differs between phases, a variable total Darcy velocity ensues, so that fractional flow theory does not easily apply. For upscaled equations in reservoir flow, convection terms completely dominate the diffusion terms; this is why Riemann solutions, which use zero diffusion coefficients are usually better representations than numerical representations with nonzero diffusion coefficients on the reservoir scale. The Riemann solver for this model can therefore be applied for upscaling transport processes in enhanced oil recovery involving geochemical aspects.

The performance of our Riemann solver is illustrated for carbonated water injection in



Figure 6: Oil concentration and hydrogen equation in the ICDOW model

a rock containing oil and carbon dioxide. The salinity is zero everywhere. We formulate three conservation equations, in which we substitute expressions that are obtained from geochemical software (PHREEQC) by regression. Gibbs phase rule together with charge balance shows that all compositions can be written in terms of the pH only.

The Riemann solution can be compared with a numerical solution, which can be include capillary and diffusion effects. We use the initial and boundary conditions for carbonated water injection in an oil reservoir containing connate water with some carbon dioxide. Two numerical procedures were used (1) an in house developed upstream finite difference simulator (IVUP) (2) implementation of the model equations into COMSOL. There is good agreement between the numerical solutions and the Riemann solution except that COMSOL shows a slightly lower total velocity than IVUP and the Riemann solution.

The structure of the Riemann solution from left (upstream) to right (downstream) consists of two rarefaction waves connected by a chemical shock; the latter is continued with a constant state and finally a fast Buckley-Leverett saturation shock. In the first rarefaction wave only the saturation changes, while in the second one both saturation and composition change. The connection point between the rarefaction waves can be constructed from a curve of states where the two characteristic velocities coincide.

Acknowledgments

Parts of this report greatly benefitted from discussions with Rouhi Farajzadeh, Hamidreza Salimi, Hua Guo, Ramez Nasralla and Cor van Kruijsdijk

A Activity coefficients

Molalities, molarities and mole fractions

The chemical potential of a component does not depend on whether the concentrations are measured in molar, molal or mole fractions. Therefore we obtain

$$\mu = \mu_X^0 + RT \ln (\gamma_{H,x}X)$$

= $\mu_m^0 + RT \ln (\gamma_{H,m}m)$
= $\mu_c^0 + RT \ln (\gamma_{H,c}c)$
= $\mu^0 + RT \ln a$

where μ_X^0 is the chemical potential of pure solute having the properties of an infinitely dilute solution, μ_m^0 is the chemical potential of the solute in the ideal one molal solution and μ_c^0 is the chemical potential (Anderson and Crerar) of the ideal one molar solution. Anderson and Crerar show that difference between the activity coefficients γ except for very high concentrations are extremely small, i.e.,

$$\ln \gamma_{H,x} = \ln \gamma_{H,m} + \Gamma_{\gamma} = \ln \gamma_{H,m} + \ln (1 + 0.0180153m)$$
(86)

The unit of the activity depends on the reference state that determines μ^0 .

The equilibrium constants express the values with respect to a reference state, e.g., an ideal one molar solution with activity coefficient one, which corresponds to an activity equal to one. The equilibrium constants tabulated in Appelo, are referring to one molal ideal solutions, which have thus an activity equal to one. So all activities computed from the equilibrium relations are with respect of an ideal solution of one mol/kg-water, which has an activity one.

Division by these activities by the activity coefficients give us the value of the concentrations. The activity coefficients are derived in the Debye-Hückel theory, which uses the Electrostatic Poisson equation, where the charge density is expressed in charge per unit volume. Hence it appears that the activity coefficients are formally correct only for concentrations expressed in mol/liter. All the same many authors still use molalilties (concentrations in mol/ kg-water) based on the fact that the difference between the activity coefficients based on molarites, molalities or even mole fractions are extremely small.

Activity coefficients for charged molecules; extended Debye Hückel law

The extended Debye-H \ddot{u} ckel theory for calculating the activity coefficient of an ion reads [1]

$$\ln \gamma_j \left(\mu\right) = -\frac{A_\gamma |z_j|^2 \sqrt{\mu}}{1 + B_\gamma \dot{a}_j \sqrt{\mu}} + b_j \mu \tag{87}$$

where $\mu = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} (c_i z_i^2) [mol/liter]$ is the ionic strength of the solution, z_i is the

charge of the ion, in water. Finally a_j is the effective diameter of an ion j in Ångstrom see Appelo and Postma, [3], page 125. For small ions we use a value of 3 Ångstrom.

$$B_{\gamma} = \left(\frac{8\pi N_A q_e^2 \rho_o}{1000\varepsilon_r k_B T}\right)^{1/2} = \frac{50.29158649\rho_0^{1/2}}{(\varepsilon_r T)^{1/2}}$$
(88)

where N_A is the Avogadro number (6.225×10^{23}) molecules per mole, $q_e = 4.803 \times 10^{-10}$ esu (electrostatic unit of charge), ρ_0 is the density of pure water water in $[g/cm^3]$, ε_r is the relative dielectric coefficient, $k_B = 1.38054 \times 10^{-16}$ erg/K is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature in K, P is the pressure in atmosphere. and the compressibility κ_0 $= (atm^{-1})$. For the definition of B in Eq. (25) we need to express å in Ångström.

Moreover we can express the Debye-Hückel parameter for the activity coefficients as [95]

$$A_{\gamma} = \frac{\left(2\pi N_A\right)^{1/2} q_e^3 \sqrt{\rho^0}}{\sqrt{1000} \left(\varepsilon k_B T\right)^{3/2}} = \frac{1824829.238 \sqrt{\rho^0}}{\left(\varepsilon T\right)^{3/2}} \quad \left[(mol/kg)^{0.5} \right]$$
(89)

At room temperature $(25^{\circ}C)$ and atmospheric pressure $A_{\gamma}/\ln(10) = 0.5085$ and B = 0.3281. Finally a_j is the effective diameter of an ion j in Ångstrom [4] [3], page 125. For small ions we use a value of 3 Ångstrom. The ionic strength can be written in terms of activities as

$$\mu = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \left(c_i z_i^2 \right) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \left(\frac{a_i}{\gamma_i \left(\mu \right)} z_i^2 \right) \tag{90}$$

Converting molalities into concentrations

For more or less dilute solutions we can take the activity of water $a_{H_2O} = 1$. ([56] [2]). For sea water $a_{H_2O} = 0.98$. The concentrations are expressed in moles per unit mass

of water. Indeed, if we divide the activities by activity coefficients $\gamma_{w,j}$ we obtain the concentration in molalities, simply because Appelo [4] defines the reference state as the activity of one molal of ideal solution. The molarities are proportional to the molalities and the conversion is given by the equation

$$c_{a,j} = \frac{\rho_a}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (m_{w,i}M_i)} m_{w,j} = [M_w c_{a,w}] m_{w,j}, \qquad (91)$$

where we have used that $M_w c_{a,w} = \rho_a / \sum_{i=1}^N (m_{w,i}M_i)$, and that the molality of water $m_{w,j} = 1000/M_w$. The density of the aqueous solution is ρ_a .

B Partition of carbon dioxide into the aqueous and oleic phases

By comparing the Henry coefficient of carbon dioxide between the oleic phase and the gas phase to the Henry coefficient between the aqueous and the gas phase it is possible to derive the equilibrium of carbon dioxide between an oleic phase and the aqueous phase.

Henry's law describes the ratio between the activity of carbon dioxide in the aqueous phase and in the gas phase. We obtain

$$K_{w-g}^{H} = a_{w,CO_2}/a_{g,CO_2} = m_{a,CO_2}\gamma_{a,CO_2}/f_{g,CO_2} , \qquad (92)$$

where m_{a,CO_2} is the molality of carbon dioxide in the water phase, $\gamma_{a,CO_2(aq)}$ the activity coefficient, and $f_{CO_2(q)}$ is the fugacity of carbon dioxide in the gas phase.

We can also relate the equilibrium of carbon dioxide in the oil phase [116] [71] and the gas phase by

$$K_{o-g}^{H} = a_{o,CO_2}/a_{g,CO_2} = m_{o,CO_2}\gamma_{o,CO_2}/f_{g,CO_2} .$$
(93)

The procedure to get activities in neutral molecules in the aqueous phase is given in [87].

Therefore the ratio of the Henry coefficients give the ratio of the molalities

$$\frac{K_w^H}{K_o^H} = \frac{m_{a,CO_2}\gamma_{a,CO_2}}{m_{o,CO_2}\gamma_{o,CO_2}} \approx \frac{m_{a,CO_2}}{m_{o,CO_2}}$$
(94)

The approximation is valid for low ion concentrations. In practice there will be an effect for natural brine reservoirs. For the simplified model we use that $\gamma_{a,CO_2} = \gamma_{o,CO_2}$.

For crude estimates we can use that the mole fraction of CO_2 in oil (2,2,4-trimethyl pentane) at 40 bar is [71] of the order of $x_{o,CO_2} = 0.2$. The Henry coefficient in water is 0.034 mol/liter/atm [91] [118], which would be approximately 1.38 mol / liter at 40 bar. This corresponds to a mole fraction of $x_{w,CO_2} = 0.025$. Hence the solubility ratio R_{CO_2} between oil and water is of the order of 8, i.e.,

$$R_{CO_2} = \frac{c_{o,CO_2}}{c_{a,CO_2}} \approx 8 \tag{95}$$

Therefore we can also relate the concentration of the carbon dioxide in oleic phase c_{o,CO_2} to the hydrogen ion concentration and the chloride concentration as the other concentrations. Using Eq.

$$\frac{\rho_{o,C(-4)}}{\rho_{O,C(-4)}} + \frac{\rho_{o,CO_2}}{\rho_{O,CO_2}} = 1,$$
(96)

we can also calculate $c_{o,oil}$ and relate it to the hydrogen ion concentration and the chloride concentration.

The calculation of activity coefficients of neutral molecules (CO₂ (aq), SiO₂ (aq), $H_2S(aq)$) is usually much simpler than the calculation of activity coefficients of ions [2]. The first ionization constant is usually small, so that species other than the neutral substances can usually be disregarded. We will consider

$$\operatorname{CO}_2(g) \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{CO}_2(aq) ,$$

$$\tag{97}$$

for which the Henry coefficient can be written as

$$K_H = a_{CO_2(aq)} / a_{CO_2(g)} = m_{CO_2(aq)} \gamma_{CO_2(aq)} / f_{CO_2(g)} , \qquad (98)$$

where f_{CO_2} is the fugacity of carbon dioxide, γ_{CO_2} is the activity coefficient of CO₂ in the aqueous phase and m_{CO_2} is the molality of carbon dioxide. The activity coefficient, $\gamma_{CO_2(aq)}$, in pure water is usually close to one.

The Setchénow coefficient k_S relates the activity coefficient of interest to the ionic strength of the solution, e.g., for carbon dioxide

$$\log \gamma_{CO_2(aq)} = k_S \mu = \frac{1}{2} k_S \sum_{i=1}^N c_i Z_i^2 .$$
(99)

where the logarithm has base ten. Similar relations hold for the other non-charged components (see Table ??)

For single salt solutions, values can be found in [102]. Byrne et al. [21] use the equation

$$\log \frac{m_0}{m_s} = \sum_i k_{mi} I,\tag{100}$$

for salt mixtures, where m_0 and m_s are the solubilities in distilled water and salt solutions, at T, P and the fugacity of interest. Solubilities of methane are not much affected by the presence of clay [101]. For an overview of activity coefficients for neutral molecules in ionic solutions we refer to [87] [86] [85]. We will not explicitly use it, but the Eq. (??) has already been implented in PHREEQC [75].

However, to add the individual values is cumbersome and we can approximate the values using that $k_s = 0.1$ ([62]) ([101]), even if these values can vary.

C Partial molar volume

The regression expressions for the density and the dielectric constant are given in Appendix A

Following Redlich and Mayer (1964), it is convenient to introduce Traube's apparent molal volume defined by the volume V of a solution containing n_1 moles of solvent (molal volume) v_{10} and n_2 moles of solute according to (see Redlich and Meyer, 1964).

$$V = n_1 v_{l0} + n_2 \phi \tag{101}$$

Usually the apparent molal volume is computed from the molal weight of the solute w_2 , its concentration c (moles/l.), and the densities s of the solution and s^0 of the solvent by

$$\phi = \frac{w_2}{s^0} - 1000 \left(s - s^0 \right) / \left(c s^0 \right) \tag{102}$$

The theory of electrolytes furnishes the limiting relation

$$\phi = \phi^0 + k w^{1.5} c^{0.5} \tag{103}$$

It shows the usual linear dependence on the square root of the concentration and the influence of the valence factor w, which is given by the number ν_i of ions of species *i* formed by one molecule of the electrolyte and the valence z_i according to

$$w = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \nu_i z_i^2 \tag{104}$$

-Millero—Alternative formulation for calculating the specific volume for the aqueous species (Millero, 2000) by convention relative to the volume of H^+ at a ionic strength of 0. The specific volume for species i is calculated according to the formula , where is the specific volume at infinite dilution; A_v is the Debye-Hückel limiting slope, and I is the ionic strength. The volume at infinite dilution is parameterized as and the coefficient is parameterized as , where T is °C. If both -Vm and -Millero are defined for a species, the numbers from -Vm are used. Warning: the applicability of the Millero formulas is limited to T < 50 °C, and the calculated densities may be incorrect at ionic strengths > 1.0 except for NaCl solutions. Optionally, Millero or -Mi[llero]. a, b, c, d, e, f—Numerical values for parameters a to f in the specific volume equation.

The density

The density ρ_w can be expressed as the inverse molar volume, i.e.,

$$\rho_w = \frac{1}{V} = \frac{1}{\sum_i n_i \overline{V}_i} \tag{105}$$

where

$$\overline{V}_i = \overline{V}_{i,\text{inf}} + \frac{1}{2} z_i^2 A_V \frac{\sqrt{\mu}}{1 + \mathring{a} B \sqrt{\mu}} + \beta_i \mu^{i_4}, \qquad (106)$$

where $\beta_i = i_1 + i_2/(T_K - 228) + i_3(T_K - 228)$ and μ is the ionic strength. The partial molar volume $\overline{V}_{i,inf}$ at infinite dilution is

$$\overline{V}_{i,\text{inf}} = 41.84 \left(a_1/10 + \frac{100a_2}{2600 + P_b} + \frac{a_3}{T_K - 228} + \frac{10000a_4}{(2600 + P_b) \left(T_K - 228\right)} - WQ_{Born} \right),\tag{107}$$

where $Q_{Born} = -\partial_P (1/\varepsilon_r)^2$. The constants in *cal/mole/bar* are a1, a2, a3, a4, å W, i1, i2, i3, i4 $a_1 = 8.615$, $a_2 = 0$, $a_3 = -12.21$, $a_4 = 0$ å = 1.667, W = 0, $i_1 = 0$. $i_2 = 264$, $i_3 = 0$ and $i_4 = 1$ for the reaction $CO_3^{2-} + H^+ \rightarrow HCO_3^-$. Using the factor 41.84, leads to a volume of cm^3/mol . The factor 4.184 converts calorie to Joule.

The constant A_V , the Debye limiting slope, can be expressed as [10]

$$A_V = 2RT \sqrt{\frac{2\pi N_A \rho_0}{1000}} \left(\frac{q_e^2}{\epsilon kT}\right)^{3/2} \left[\left(\frac{\partial \log \varepsilon_r}{\partial P}\right)_T + \frac{\kappa_0}{3} \right] \left[(cm^3/mol)(mol/kg)^{-0.5} \right], \quad (108)$$

where N_A is the Avogadro number (6.225×10^{23}) molecules per mole, $q_e = 4.803 \times 10^{-10}$ esu (electrostatic unit of charge), ρ_0 is the density of pure water water in $[g/cm^3]$, ε_r is the relative dielectric coefficient, $k_B = 1.38 \times 10^{-16}$ erg/K is the Boltzmann constant, Tis the temperature in K, P is the pressure in atmosphere. and the compressibility $\kappa_0 = (atm^{-1})$.

$$B = \frac{8\pi N_A q_e^2 \rho_o}{\varepsilon_r k_B T} \tag{109}$$

D Sorption isotherms

In this section as we assume for the simple model, that the activity coefficients of the surface complexes are equal to one. Indeed, the conversion of activities to concentration of surface complexes is not easy [3] and activity coefficients of surface complexes are usually taken equal to one. However, the equilibrium coefficients $K_{i,\kappa}$ have been corrected for charge effects. Usually in surface chemistry one uses activities for the dissolved ions. The activity coefficients of the surface complexes are usually one, i.e., we do not discern different values of the activity coefficients of the surface complexes. This is generally done as currently there is no model to derive the activity coefficients of surface complexes [3]. We distinguish again weak and strong binding sites. The total charge is the charge on the surface potential of the sorbent phase. The number of strong binding sites are for instance 1% of the number of weak binding sites... From Eqs. (??) we obtain

$$K_{-11} = \frac{m_{H^+}(oil_{s,N})}{(oil_{s,NH^+})} = \frac{m_{H^+}\left(m_{oil_{s,NH^+}}^{tot} - m_{oil_{s,NH^+}}\right)}{m_{oil_{s,NH^+}}}$$
(110)

where we used that the total number of surface sites of per kilogram of oil is $m_{oil_{s,NH^+}} + m_{oil_{s,N}} = m_{oil_{s,NH^+}}^{tot}$. Hence we obtain

$$m_{oil_{s,NH^+}} = \frac{m_{H^+} m_{oil_{s,NH^+}}^{tot}}{K_{-11} + m_{H^+}}$$
(111)

$$m_{oil_{s,N}} = m_{oil_{s,NH^+}}^{tot} - m_{oil_{s,NH^+}}$$

$$(112)$$

The total number of binding sites of the surface complexes per mol of adsorbent, e.g., the cationic surfactant concentration $m_{oil_{s,NH^+}}^{tot}$ per mole of oil is given. In addition

we give the average molar weight of the surfactant molecule and the surface area of the adsorbent in $[m^2/g - \text{sorbent}]$. The concentration of amines and carboxylic acids in the ioil are implicitly given by the base number and acid number respectively. It concerns the mass of KOH that is necessary to neutralize the solution and is an indicator of the amount of carboxylic acids. Conversely the base number the mass of perchloric / glacial acetic acid required to neutralize the solution. It is mentioned [26] that many standard methods are not able to determine the weak acid concentration.

In the same way we obtain

$$m_{oil_{w,COOH}} = \frac{m_{oil_{w,COOH}}^{tot} m_{H^+}}{K_{-21} + m_{H^+} + K_{22} m_{Ca^2 +} m_{H^+}}$$
(113)

$$m_{oil_{w,COO^{-}}} = \frac{K_{-21} \ m_{oil_{w,COOH}}^{tot}}{K_{-21} + m_{H^{+}} + K_{22} \ m_{Ca^{2+}} m_{H^{+}}}$$
(114)

$$m_{oil_{w,COOCa^+}} = \frac{K_{22} \, m_{Ca^{2+}} \, m_{oil_{w,COOH}}^{tot} \, m_{H^+}}{K_{-21} + m_{H^+} + K_{22} \, m_{a,Ca^{2+}} m_{H^+}} \tag{115}$$

where we have defined $m_{oil_{w,COOH}}^{tot} = (m_{oil_{w,COOH}}) + (m_{oil_{w,COO-}}) + (m_{oil_{w,COOCa^+}})$. Here the molalities are given in terms of [mol/kg-oil]

$$m_{Cal_{s,OH}} = \frac{m_{Cal_{s,OH}}^{tot}}{K_{33} m_{HCO_3^-} + K_{13} m_{H^+} + 1}$$
(116)

$$m_{Cal_{s,CO_3^-}} = \frac{m_{Cal_{s,OH}}^{tot} K_{33} a_{HCO_3^-}}{K_{33} m_{HCO_3^-} + K_{13} m_{H^+} + 1}$$
(117)

$$m_{Cal_{s,OH_2^+}} = \frac{m_{Cal_{s,OH}}^{tot} K_{13} m_{H^+}}{K_{33} m_{HCO_3^-} + K_{13} m_{H^+} + 1}$$
(118)

$$m_{Cal_{w,CO_{3}H}} = \frac{m_{Cal_{w,CO_{3}H}}^{tot}}{\left(1 + K_{-14}m_{H^{+}} + K_{24}m_{Ca^{2+}}\right)}$$
(119)

$$m_{Cal_{w,CO_{3}^{-}}} = \frac{K_{-14} m_{H^{+}} m_{Cal_{w,CO_{3}H}}^{tot}}{\left(1 + K_{-14} m_{H^{+}} + K_{24} m_{Ca^{2+}}\right)}$$
(120)

$$m_{Cal_{w,CO_3Ca^+}} = \frac{K_{24} m_{Cal_{w,CO_3H}}^{tot} m_{Ca^{2+}}}{\left(1 + K_{-14} m_{H^+} + K_{24} m_{Ca^{2+}}\right)},$$
(121)

where the molalities are given in [moles per kg-calcite].

The molalities can be converted to concentrations using the Eq. A. The total concentrations are given by

$$c_{oil_{w,COOH,tot}} = 1.3 \times 10^{-3} \ mol/m^3,$$

$$c_{oil_{s,N},tot} = 1.3 \times 10^{-3} \ mol/m^3,$$

$$c_{Ca_{s,OH,tot}} = 1.1 \times 10^{-2} \ mol/m^3,$$

$$c_{Ca_{w,CO3H,tot}} = 1.1 \times 10^{-2} \ mol/m^3.$$

E Charge neutrality

E.1 Mathematical derivation

Remark: We did not consider the surface complexes, but the idea is similar

We consider that we have the n possible different atoms to obtain m possible chemical species. We denote these atoms as

$$X_1, X_2, \cdots, X_n.$$

We suppose that atom X_i , for $i = 1, 2, \dots n$, has the valence θ_i .

The j-th chemical species is denoted as

$$((X_1)_{\gamma_{1j}}(X_2)_{\gamma_{2j}}\cdots(X_n)_{\gamma_{nj}})^{\xi_j}.$$
 (122)

Here ξ_j is the ion charge of the *j*-th component; if the *j*-th chemical species is not a ion, then $\xi_j = 0$. For the constant γ_{ij} , the index *i* is associated to the particular atom X_i , and the index *j* is associated to the chemical species. Moreover, it is possible that $\gamma_{ij} = 0$ if the atom is absent in chemical species.

Using the charge balance of each j - th chemical species, we have that:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \gamma_{ij} \theta_i = \xi_j. \tag{123}$$

We denote the concentration of j-th chemical species as:

$$c\left((X_1)_{\gamma_{1j}}(X_2)_{\gamma_{2j}}\cdots(X_n)_{\gamma_{nj}}\right)^{\xi_j}\right) \tag{124}$$

We define the total charge as:

$$\sigma = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \xi_j c\left((X_1)_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_2)_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_n)_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_j} \right).$$
(125)

When $\sigma = 0$ the say that there is *charge neutrality*.

Theorem 1. The charge neutrality is conserved by the evolution equations, i.e., if $\sigma = 0$ for the initial value, it remains $\sigma = 0$ for all t > 0.

Proof:

The conservation law for the i-th atom in the water phase is given by the concentration of each chemical species:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \gamma_{ij} c\left((X_1)_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_2)_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_n)_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_j} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial x} u \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \gamma_{ij} c\left((X_1)_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_2)_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_n)_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_j} \right) \right) \\
= \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\varphi D_w \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \gamma_{ij} c\left((X_1)_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_2)_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_n)_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_j} \right) \right) \right) \tag{126}$$

To obtain the conservation of charge, notice that we can multiply the equation for the *i*-th atom by his respective valence, θ_i . Notice that there are *n* equations. We add all equations and we obtain:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \gamma_{ij} c\left((X_{1})_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_{2})_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_{n})_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_{j}} \right) \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} u \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \gamma_{ij} c\left((X_{1})_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_{2})_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_{n})_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_{j}} \right) \right) \\
= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\varphi D_{w} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \gamma_{ij} c\left((X_{1})_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_{2})_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_{n})_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_{j}} \right) \right) \right)$$
(127)

Changing the order of sum in i and j we obtain

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{i} \gamma_{ij} \right) c \left((X_{1})_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_{2})_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_{n})_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_{j}} \right) \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial x} u \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{i} \gamma_{ij} \right) c \left((X_{1})_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_{2})_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_{n})_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_{j}} \right) \right) \\
= \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\varphi D_{w} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{i} \gamma_{ij} \right) c \left((X_{1})_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_{2})_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_{n})_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_{j}} \right) \right) \right)$$
(128)

Using (123), we finally obtain:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \xi_j c\left((X_1)_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_2)_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_n)_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_j} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial x} u \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \xi_j c\left((X_1)_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_2)_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_n)_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_j} \right) \right) \\
= \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\varphi D_w \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \xi_j c\left((X_1)_{\gamma_{1j}} (X_2)_{\gamma_{2j}} \cdots (X_n)_{\gamma_{nj}} \right)^{\xi_j} \right) \right) \right).$$
(129)

Notice that (129) is an equation for the unknown σ :

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\left(\sigma\right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial x}u\left(\sigma\right) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(\varphi D_{w}\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(\sigma\right)\right).$$
(130)

If $\sigma = 0$ initially, from the uniqueness of solution of partial differential equation, we prove that $\sigma = 0$ is the only solution.

F Basic programs for calculation of the density and dielectric properties

F.1 Program for A_V obtained from Table in Donald Archer and Pelming Wang

```
Function AVeps(T, P)
rem T in K and P in MPa
coef3 = -1.63521E-15 * T * T * T + 1.66821E-12 * T * T
- 0.00000000587862 * T + 0.0000000664581
coef2 = 9.26251E-13 * T * T * T - 0.000000000912623 * T * T
+ 0.00000341581 * T - 0.00004174
coef1 = 5.53046E-11 * T * T * T - 0.00000101197 * T * T
+ 0.000023077 * T - 0.001447951
coef0 = -0.000000716544 * T * T * T + 0.0000929356 * T * T
- -0.027716004 * T + 2.530009631
AVeps = coef3 * P * P * P + coef2 * P * P
+ coef1 * P + coef0
End Function
```

```
Function rhotp(T, P)
```

rem P in MPa and T in K, density in kg/m³ Rem Experimental study of the p, V, T properties Rem For temperatures in the range ' 323.15 to 773.15 K and pressures up to 200 MPa ' I. TANISHITA, K. WATANABE, J. K.IIIMA, H. ISHII, ' K. OGUCHI, and M. UEMATSU" Rem J. Chem. Thermodynamics (1976) 8 pp 1-20 Rem partial molar volume aone = 0.000768687 * T + 0.14162221atwo = -0.692035118 * T + 1213.365007rhotp = aone * P + atwo End Function

F.2 Program for dielectric coefficient ε , obtained from Table in Donald Archer and Pelming Wang

```
Function epsi(T, P)
rem T in K and P in Mpa
coef3 = 1.21462E-14 * T * T * T - 1.36106E-11 * T * T _ + 0.0000000512099 * T - 0.00000624514
coef2 = -0.00000000012255 * T * T * T + 0.000000140519 * T * T _ - 0.0000054587 * T + 0.000684648
coef1 = 0.0000000264951 * T * T * T - 0.00000266152 * T * T _ + 0.000859081 * T - 0.0529549
coef0 = -0.000000955266 * T * T * T + 0.00165457 * T * T _ - 1.09166 * T + 282.114
epsi = coef3 * P * P * P + coef2 * P * P _ + coef1 * P + coef0
End Function
```

References

[1] J Ananthaswamy and Gordon Atkinson. Thermodynamics of concentrated electrolyte mixtures. 5. a review of the thermodynamic properties of aqueous calcium chloride in the temperature range 273.15-373.15 k. Journal of Chemical and Engineering Data, 30(1):120–128, 1985.

- [2] Greg M Anderson and David A Crerar. *Thermodynamics in geochemistry: The equilibrium model.* Oxford University Press, USA, 1993.
- [3] C Anthony J Appelo and Dieke Postma. Geochemistry, groundwater and pollution. Taylor & Francis, 2005.
- [4] CAJ Appelo and D Postma. Groundwater, geochemistry and pollution. Balkema, Rotterdam, 1993.
- [5] CAJ Appelo, MJJ Van der Weiden, C Tournassat, and L Charlet. Surface complexation of ferrous iron and carbonate on ferrihydrite and the mobilization of arsenic. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 36(14):3096–3103, 2002.
- [6] T Austad, SF Shariatpanahi, S Strand, CJJ Black, and KJ Webb. Conditions for a low-salinity enhanced oil recovery (eor) effect in carbonate oil reservoirs. *Energy* & fuels, 26(1):569–575, 2011.
- [7] Robert Aveyard and Denis A Haydon. An Introduction to the Principles of Surface Chemistry. CUP Archive, 1973.
- [8] Allen J Bard and Larry R Faulkner. *Electrochemical methods: fundamentals and applications*, volume 2. Wiley New York, 1980.
- [9] Steffen Berg, Hassan Mahani, Willem-Bart Bartels, Vahid Joekar-Niasar, Denis Ilic, et al. Kinetics of the low salinity waterflooding effect studied in a model system. In SPE Enhanced Oil Recovery Conference, SPE 165255. Society of Petroleum Engineers, 2014.
- [10] RP Beyer and BR Staples. Pitzer-debye-hückel limiting slopes for water from 0 to 350 c and from saturation to 1 kbar. *Journal of solution chemistry*, 15(9):749–764, 1986.
- [11] Daniel J Bradley and Kenneth S Pitzer. Thermodynamics of electrolytes. 12. dielectric properties of water and debye-hueckel parameters to 350. degree. c and 1 kbar. Journal of physical chemistry, 83(12):1599–1603, 1979.
- [12] Patrick Brady, James Krumhansl, and Paul Mariner. Surface complexation modeling for improved oil recovery. In SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium, volume SPE 153744, 2012.

- [13] Patrick V Brady and James L Krumhansl. A surface complexation model of oil-brine-sandstone interfaces at 100 c: Low salinity waterflooding. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 81:171–176, 2012.
- [14] SL Bryant, RS Schechter, and LW Lake. Interactions of precipitation/dissolution waves and ion exchange in flow through permeable media. AIChE journal, 32(5):751-764, 1986.
- [15] SL Bryant, RS Schechter, and LW Lake. Mineral sequences in precipitation/dissolution waves. AIChE journal, 33(8):1271–1287, 1987.
- [16] J. S. Buckley. Mechanisms and consequences of wettability alteration by crude oils. Ph-D thesis- Heriot-Watt University, 1996.
- [17] JS Buckley, C Bousseau, and Y Liu. Wetting alteration by brine and crude oil: From contact angles to cores. spe 30765. In *Proceedings of the SPE Annual Conference and Exhibition, Dallas*, 1995.
- [18] J.S. Buckley and Y Liu. Some mechanisms of crude oil/brine/solid interactions. Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering, 20(3):155–160, 1998.
- [19] S.E. Buckley and M.C. Leverett. Mechanism of fluid displacement in sands. Transactions of the AIME, SPE-942107-G., (146):107–116, 1942.
- [20] NeT Burdine et al. Relative permeability calculations from pore size distribution data. Journal of Petroleum Technology, 5(03):71–78, 1953.
- [21] Patricia A Byrne and Ronald K Stoessell. Methane solubilities in multisalt solutions. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 46(11):2395–2397, 1982.
- [22] PL Chueh and JM Prausnitz. Vapor-liquid equilibria at high pressures. vaporphase fugacity coefficients in nonpolar and quantum-gas mixtures. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Fundamentals*, 6(4):492–498, 1967.
- [23] E Colin W Clarke and David N Glew. Evaluation of debye-hückel limiting slopes for water between 0 and 150 c. Journal of the Chemical Society, Faraday Transactions 1: Physical Chemistry in Condensed Phases, 76:1911–1916, 1980.
- [24] SH Collins and JC Melrose. Adsorption of asphaltenes and water on reservoir rock minerals. In SPE Oilfield and Geothermal Chemistry Symposium, volume spe 11800, 1983.

- [25] N. De Nevers. A calculation method for carbonated water flooding. Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal, 4(1):51–62, 1964.
- [26] ST Dubey and PH Doe. Base number and wetting properties of crude oils. SPE reservoir engineering, 8(3):195–200, 1993.
- [27] ST Dubey and MH Waxman. Asphaltene adsorption and desorption from mineral surfaces. SPE Reservoir Engineering, 6(3):389–395, 1991.
- [28] J.M. Dumore, J. Hagoort, and A.S. Risseeuw. An analytical model for onedimensional, three-component condensing and vaporizing gas drives. Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal, 24(2):169–179, 1984.
- [29] David A Dzombak and Francois MM Morel. Surface complexation modeling: hydrous ferric oxide, volume ISBN 0471637319. Wiley New York, 1990.
- [30] Ali Akbar Eftekhari, Johannes Bruining, Helmut Wahanik, Dan Marchesin, et al. Co2 injection in the sub-salt water layers at 7000 m depth. In SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium, SPE 142191. Society of Petroleum Engineers, 2011.
- [31] S Evje and A Hiorth. A model for interpretation of brine-dependent spontaneous imbibition experiments. Advances in Water Resources, 34(12):1627–1642, 2011.
- [32] Steinar Evje, Aksel Hiorth, Merete V Madland, and Reidar I Korsnes. A mathematical model relevant for weakening of chalk reservoirs due to chemical reactions. *Networks and Heterogeneous Media*, 4(4):755–788, 2009.
- [33] S Evjea and A Hiortha. A mathematical model for dynamic wettability alteration controlled by water-rock chemistry. *http://aimSciences.org*, 2009.
- [34] Rouhollah Farajzadeh, Tsuyoshi Matsuura, Diederik van Batenburg, and Harm Dijk. Detailed modeling of the alkali/surfactant/polymer (asp) process by coupling a multipurpose reservoir simulator to the chemistry package phreeqc. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 15(4):423–435, 2012.
- [35] SM Fatemi, R Kharrat, and S Vossoughi. Feasibility study of in-situ combustion (ISC) in a 2D laboratory-scale fractured system using a thermal reservoir simulator. China National Petroleum Corporation-Alberta Petroleum Centre, Beijing (China); dmg world media, Calgary, AB (Canada), 2008.

- [36] Seyed Jafar Fathi, Tor Austad, and Skule Strand. Water-based enhanced oil recovery (eor) by" smart water" in carbonate reservoirs. In SPE EOR Conference at Oil and Gas West Asia, volume SPE 154570, 2012.
- [37] DP Fernandez, ARH Goodwin, Eric W Lemmon, JMH Levelt Sengers, and RC Williams. A formulation for the static permittivity of water and steam at temperatures from 238 k to 873 k at pressures up to 1200 mpa, including derivatives and debye-hückel coefficients. Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data, 26:1125, 1997.
- [38] MA Fernø, R Grønsdal, J Åsheim, A Nyheim, M Berge, and A Graue. Use of sulfate for water based enhanced oil recovery during spontaneous imbibition in chalk. *Energy & fuels*, 25(4):1697–1706, 2011.
- [39] M.T. Flanaga. Models the gouy-chapman and gouy-chapman-stern equations. http://www.ee.ucl.ac.uk/ mflanaga/java/GouyChapmanStern.html, java scientific library, 2008.
- [40] Gregory C Frye and Michele Moisio Thomas. Adsorption of organic compounds on carbonate minerals: 2. extraction of carboxylic acids from recent and ancient carbonates. *Chemical geology*, 109(1):215–226, 1993.
- [41] C Geffroy, A Foissy, J Persello, and B Cabane. Surface complexation of calcite by carboxylates in water. *Journal of Colloid and Interface science*, 211(1):45–53, 1999.
- [42] J. Glimm. Solutions in the large for nonlinear hyperbolic systems of equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., (18):697–715, 1965.
- [43] Robert N Goldberg, JL Manley, and RL Nuttall. Gamphi: A database of activity and osmotic coefficients for aqueous electrolyte solutions. Technical report, National Bureau of Standards, Washington, DC (USA). Center for Chemical Physics, 1988.
- [44] F. G. Helfferich. Theory of multicomponent, multiphase displacement in porous media. Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal, pages 51–62, 1981.
- [45] Friedrich G Helfferich. The theory of precipitation/dissolution waves. AIChE journal, 35(1):75–87, 1989.

- [46] HAROLD C Helgeson and DAVID H Kirkham. Theoretical prediction of the thermodynamic properties of aqueous electrolytes at high pressures and temperatures. iii. equation of state for aqueous species at infinite dilution. American Journal of science, 276(2):97–240, 1976.
- [47] Harold C Helgeson, David H Kirkham, and George C Flowers. Theoretical prediction of the thermodynamic behavior of aqueous electrolytes by high pressures and temperatures; iv, calculation of activity coefficients, osmotic coefficients, and apparent molal and standard and relative partial molal properties to 600 degrees c and 5kb. American Journal of Science, 281(10):1249–1516, 1981.
- [48] GJ Hirasaki. Wettability: fundamentals and surface forces. SPE Formation Evaluation, 6(2):217–226, 1991.
- [49] Astrid Holstad. A mathematical and numerical model for reactive fluid flow systems. Computational Geosciences, 4(2):103–139, 2000.
- [50] P.P. Jadhunandan and N.R. MORROW. Effect of wettability on waterflood recovery for crude-oil brine rock systems. SPE Reservoir Engineering, 10(1):40–46, 1995.
- [51] R.T. Johns, B. Dindoruk, and F.M.Jr. Orr. Analytical theory of combined condensing/vaporizing gas drives. Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal, 1(2):7–16, 1993.
- [52] James W Johnson, Eric H Oelkers, and Harold C Helgeson. Supert92: A software package for calculating the standard molal thermodynamic properties of minerals, gases, aqueous species, and reactions from 1 to 5000 bar and 0 to 1000 c. Computers & Geosciences, 18(7):899–947, 1992.
- [53] Ajit A Kukarni, Baha Y Zarah, Kraemer D Luks, and James P Kohn. Phaseequilbriums behavior of system carbon dioxide-n-decane at low temperatures. *Jour*nal of Chemical and Engineering Data, 19(1):92–94, 1974.
- [54] A Lager, KJ Webb, CJJ Black, M Singleton, KS Sorbie, et al. Low salinity oil recovery–an experimental investigation. *Petrophysics*, 49(1):28, 2008.
- [55] Larry W Lake. Enhanced oil recovery. Old Tappan, NJ; Prentice Hall Inc., 1989.
- [56] Donald Langmuir. Aqueous environmental geochemistry, volume 600. Prentice Hall Upper Saddle River, NJ, 1997.

- [57] P. Lax. Hyperbolic system of conservation law ii. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., (10):537–566, 1957.
- [58] M.C. Leverett. Flow of oil-water mixtures through unconsolidated sands. Transactions of the AIME, (132):149–171, 1939.
- [59] Dick Ligthelm, Jan Gronsveld, Jan Hofman, Niels Brussee, Fons Marcelis, and Hilbert van der Linde. Novel waterflooding strategy by manipulation of injection brine composition. In EUROPEC/EAGE Conference and Exhibition, volume SPE 119835, 2009.
- [60] T.-P. Liu. The riemann problem for general 2 x 2 conservation laws. Transactions of A.M.S., (199):89–112, 1974.
- [61] T.-P. Liu. The riemann problem for general systems of conserva- tion laws. J. Differ. Equ., 18(1):218–234, 1975.
- [62] FA Long and WF McDevit. Activity coefficients of nonelectrolyte solutes in aqueous salt solutions. *Chemical reviews*, 51(1):119–169, 1952.
- [63] Eduardo Manrique, Viviana Muci, and Mariano Gurfinkel. Eor field experiences in carbonate reservoirs in the united states. In SPE/DOE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery, 2006.
- [64] Eduardo Jose Manrique, Viviana Eugenia Muci, Mariano E Gurfinkel, et al. Eor field experiences in carbonate reservoirs in the united states. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 10(06):667–686, 2007.
- [65] Daniel C Melchior, Randy L Bassett, et al. Chemical Modeling of Aqueous Systems II. American Chemical Society, 1990.
- [66] Broder J Merkel, Britta Planer-Friedrich, and Darrell Kirk Nordstrom. *Ground-water geochemistry*. Springer, 2005.
- [67] Frank J Millero. The equation of state of lakes. Aquatic Geochemistry, 6(1):1–17, 2000.
- [68] Frank J Millero and Denis Pierrot. A chemical equilibrium model for natural waters. Aquatic Geochemistry, 4(1):153–199, 1998.
- [69] Norman Morrow and Jill Buckley. Improved oil recovery by low-salinity water-flooding. *Journal of Petroleum Technology*, 63(5):106–112, 2011.

- [70] Norman R Morrow et al. Wettability and its effect on oil recovery. J. Pet. Technol, 42(12):1476–1484, 1990.
- [71] Fabrice Mutelet, Stéphane Vitu, Romain Privat, and Jean-Noël Jaubert. Solubility of coj sub¿ 2¡/sub¿ in branched alkanes in order to extend the ppr78 model (predictive 1978, peng-robinson eos with temperature-dependent; i¿ k¡/i¿¡ sub¿ ij¡/sub¿ calculated through a group contribution method) to such systems. Fluid phase equilibria, 238(2):157–168, 2005.
- [72] N Nagarajan and RL Robinson Jr. Equilibrium phase compositions, phase densities, and interfacial tensions for carbon dioxide+ hydrocarbon systems. 2. carbon dioxide+ n-decane. Journal of Chemical and Engineering Data, 31(2):168–171, 1986.
- [73] M Noh, LW Lake, SL Bryant, and A Araque-Martinez. Implications of coupling fractional flow and geochemistry for co₂ injection in aquifers. In *SPE/DOE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery*, volume SPE 89341, 2004.
- [74] A. O. Oleinik. Discontinuous solutions of nonlinear differential equations. Math. Sot. Transl. Ser., 2(26):95–172, 1963.
- [75] David L Parkhurst and CAJ Appelo. Description of Input and Examples for PHREEQC Version Computer Program for Speciation, Batch-Reaction, One-Dimensional Transport, and Inverse Geochemical Calculations. US Geological Survey Denver, 2013.
- [76] David L Parkhurst, CAJ Appelo, et al. User's guide to PHREEQC (Version 2): A computer program for speciation, batch-reaction, one-dimensional transport, and inverse geochemical calculations. US Geological Survey Denver, 1999.
- [77] Ding-Yu Peng and Donald B Robinson. A new two-constant equation of state. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Fundamentals, 15(1):59–64, 1976.
- [78] Gérald Perron, Jacques E Desnoyers, and Frank J Millero. Apparent molal volumes and heat capacities of some sulfates and carbonates in water at 25 c. Canadian Journal of Chemistry, 53(8):1134–1138, 1975.
- [79] Kenneth S Pitzer. Characteristics of very concentrated aqueous solutions. *Physics* and Chemistry of the Earth, 13:249–272, 1981.

- [80] Kenneth S Pitzer. A thermodynamic model for aqueous solutions of liquid-like density. Technical report, Lawrence Berkeley Lab., CA (USA), 1987.
- [81] Johann Plank and Ghada Bassioni. Adsorption of carboxylate anions on a caco3 surface. Zeitschrift Fur Naturforschung Section Ba Journal of Chemical Sciences, 62(10):1277–1284, 2007.
- [82] Bruce E Poling, John M Prausnitz, O'Connell John Paul, et al. The properties of gases and liquids, volume 5. McGraw-Hill New York, 2001.
- [83] G. A. Pope. The application of fractional flow theory to enhanced oil recovery. Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal, pages 191–205, 1980.
- [84] William H Press, Saul A. Teukolsky, William T Vetterling, and Brian P. Flannery. Numerical recipes 3rd edition: The art of scientific computing. Cambridge university press, 2007.
- [85] Merle Randall and Crawford F Failey. The activity coefficient of the undissociated part of weak electrolytes. *Chemical Reviews*, 4(3):291–318, 1927.
- [86] Merle Randall and Crawford Fairbanks Failey. The activity coefficient of gases in aqueous salt solutions. *Chemical Reviews*, 4(3):271–284, 1927.
- [87] Merle Randall and Crawford Fairbanks Failey. The activity coefficient of nonelectrolytes in aqueous salt solutions from solubility measurements. the salting-out order of the ions. *Chemical Reviews*, 4(3):285–290, 1927.
- [88] Eric J Reardon and Donald Langmuir. Activity coefficients of mgco₃ and caso₄ ion pairs as a function of ionic strength. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 40(5):549– 554, 1976.
- [89] Alireza RezaeiDoust, Tina Puntervold, and Tor Austad. Chemical verification of the eor mechanism by using low saline/smart water in sandstone. *Energy & Fuels*, 25(5):2151–2162, 2011.
- [90] Scott M Rivet, Larry W Lake, Gary A Pope, et al. A coreflood investigation of low-salinity enhanced oil recovery. In *Paper SPE 134297 presented at the SPE* Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Florence, Italy, pages 19–22, 2010.
- [91] Rolf Sander. Compilation of henry's law constants for inorganic and organic species of potential importance in environmental chemistry, 1999.

- [92] William D Schecher and Drew C McAvoy. Mineql+: a software environment for chemical equilibrium modeling. Computers, Environment and Urban Systems, 16(1):65–76, 1992.
- [93] William M Schulte and Arnold S de Vries. In situ combustion in naturally fractured heavy oil reservoirs. Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal, 25(1):67–77, 1985.
- [94] Duncan J Shaw and Bernard Costello. Introduction to colloid and surface chemistry: Butterworth-heinemann, oxford, 1991, isbn 0 7506 1182 0, 306 pp,£ 14.95, 1993.
- [95] Everett L Shock, Harold C Helgeson, and Dimitri A Sverjensky. Calculation of the thermodynamic and transport properties of aqueous species at high pressures and temperatures: Standard partial molal properties of inorganic neutral species. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 53(9):2157–2183, 1989.
- [96] JM Smith. Van ness, abbott, mm, introduction to chemical engineering thermodynamic. McGraw-Hill, Boston, 329:354, 2001.
- [97] Kenneth S Sorbie. Polymer-improved oil recovery. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [98] Kenneth Stuart Sorbie, Ian Collins, et al. A proposed pore-scale mechanism for how low salinity waterflooding works. In SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. Society of Petroleum Engineers, 2010.
- [99] Roland Span and Wolfgang Wagner. A new equation of state for carbon dioxide covering the fluid region from the triple-point temperature to 1100 k at pressures up to 800 mpa. Journal of physical and chemical reference data, 25(6):1509–1596, 1996.
- [100] Dag C Standnes and Tor Austad. Wettability alteration in chalk: 2. mechanism for wettability alteration from oil-wet to water-wet using surfactants. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 28(3):123–143, 2000.
- [101] Ronald K Stoessell and Patricia A Byrne. Methane solubilities in clay slurries. Clays and Clay Minerals, 30(1):67–72, 1982.
- [102] Ronald K Stoessell and Patricia A Byrne. Salting-out of methane in single-salt solutions at 25 c and below 800 psia. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 46(8):1327– 1332, 1982.

- [103] Werner Stumm and James J Morgan. Aquatic chemistry: chemical equilibria and rates in natural waters. JOHN WILEY & SONS, NEW YORK, NY 10158(USA). 1995., 1995.
- [104] Farshad Tabasinejad, Riyaz Kharrat, Shapour Vossoughi, et al. Feasibility study of in-situ combustion in naturally fractured heavy oil reservoirs. In *International Oil Conference and Exhibition in Mexico*. Society of Petroleum Engineers, 2006.
- [105] John C Tanger and Harold C Helgeson. Calculation of the thermodynamic and transport properties of aqueous species at high pressures and temperatures; revised equations of state for the standard partial molal properties of ions and electrolytes. *American Journal of Science*, 288(1):19–98, 1988.
- [106] AT Turta and AK Singhal. Reservoir engineering aspects of oil recovery from low permeability reservoirs by air injection. In *IOGCEC: international oil & gas* conference and exhibition in China, 1998.
- [107] Philippe Van Cappellen, Laurent Charlet, Werner Stumm, and Paul Wersin. A surface complexation model of the carbonate mineral-aqueous solution interface. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 57(15):3505–3518, 1993.
- [108] Paul Van der Heijde. Compilation of saturated and unsaturated zone modeling software. Citeseer, 1996.
- [109] A Vinsot, CAJ Appelo, C Cailteau, S Wechner, J Pironon, P De Donato, Pierre De Cannière, S Mettler, P Wersin, and H-E Gäbler. Co₂ data on gas and pore water sampled in situ in the opalinus clay at the mont terri rock laboratory. *Physics* and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 33:S54–S60, 2008.
- [110] KJ Webb, CJJ Black, H Al-Ajeel, et al. Low salinity oil recovery-log-inject-log. In SPE/DOE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery. Society of Petroleum Engineers, 2004.
- [111] H.J. Welge, E.F. Johnson, and F.H. Ewing Jr. S.P.and Brinkman. The linear displacement of oil from porous media by enriched gas. *Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal*, 13(08), 1961.
- [112] Jun-Shun Yau and Fuan-Nan Tsai. Solubilities of carbon dioxide in normal paraffins. The Chemical Engineering Journal, 52(2):55–62, 1993.

- [113] Zhang Yi and Hemanta Sarma. Improving waterflood recovery efficiency in carbonate reservoirs through salinity variations and ionic exchanges: A promising low-cost" smart-waterflood" approach. In Abu Dhabi International Petroleum Conference and Exhibition, 2012.
- [114] Hasan O Yildiz and Norman R Morrow. Effect of brine composition on recovery of moutray crude oil by waterflooding. *Journal of Petroleum science and Engineering*, 14(3):159–168, 1996.
- [115] Ali Yousef, Salah Al-Saleh, Abdulaziz Al-Kaabi, and Mohammed Al-Jawfi. Laboratory investigation of novel oil recovery method for carbonate reservoirs. In *Canadian Unconventional Resources and International Petroleum Conference*, volume SPE 137634, October 2011, pages 578–593, 2011.
- [116] Liping Yu, Hans Kleppe, Terje Kaarstad, Svein M Skjaeveland, Steinar Evje, and Ingebret Fjelde. Modelling of wettability alteration processes in carbonate oil reservoirs. *Networks and Heterogeneous Media*, 3(1):149, 2008.
- [117] M Zamudio, CE Schwarz, and JH Knoetze. Experimental measurement and modelling with aspen plus® of the phase behaviour of supercritical co 2+(n-dodecane+ 1-decanol+ 3, 7-dimethyl-1-octanol). The Journal of Supercritical Fluids, 84:132– 145, 2013.
- [118] Andrzej Zawisza and Boguslawa Malesinska. Solubility of carbon dioxide in liquid water and of water in gaseous carbon dioxide in the range 0.2-5 mpa and at temperatures up to 473 k. Journal of Chemical and Engineering Data, 26(4):388–391, 1981.
- [119] P Zhang and Tor Austad. The relative effects of acid number and temperature on chalk wettability. In SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry, volume spe 92999, 2005.